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Letter from
the Chancellor
UC San Diego’s founders aspired to establish an experimental campus, one that would
define the future of education and research at a public university. They began by recruiting
the world’s top scholars to our campus—students and faculty with an entrepreneurial spirit
and a penchant for risk taking.
That innovative spirit continues today, and it has led UC San Diego to become a distinctive
campus with multiple pillars of excellence. Our visionaries enjoy the freedom to cross boundaries and design new disciplines that fuel breakthrough research and deliver a progressive education. Our leading minds are looking for the next discoveries that will benefit people around
the world in all walks of life.
The success of our founders’ early vision is unparalleled. UC San Diego is one of the top public
research universities in the country and one of the top twenty universities in the world. It is a
remarkable achievement, and one we want to build on after five decades of success.
To ensure our continued level of distinction, UC San Diego initiated its first-ever strategic
planning process this year. We’ve sharpened our mission, defined our goals, and set our sights
on achieving our vision of being a student-centered, research-focused, service-oriented public
university. We have collectively mapped a framework for sustainable excellence. Together, we
are redefining what it means to be a public research university that educates, leads, discovers,
and transforms our community and our world.
Sincerely,

Pradeep K. Khosla
Chancellor

UC San Diego Annual Operations
Fiscal Year 2012–13 (in millions of dollars)
2% Operation and
Maintenance of Plant ($76)
3% Student
Services ($94)

4% Auxiliary
Enterprises ($157)

3% Institutional
Support ($114)

7% State Educational
Appropriations ($252)
4% Other ($133)
9% Private and
Local Grants
and Contracts,
Private Gifts ($325)
11% Medical
Group ($409)

12% Student Tuition
and Fees ($415)
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2% Student
Financial Aid ($67)

TOTAL REVENUE
BY PROVIDER
$3,558

32% Medical
Center ($1,133)

21% Federal
Grants and
Contracts ($734)

1% Public Service ($18)

4% Auxiliary
Enterprises ($128)

0% Impairment of
Capital Assets ($1)
0% Other ($1)

7%
Depreciation ($233)
9% Academic
Support ($319)
19%
Instruction ($650)

TOTAL EXPENSE
BY FUNCTION
$3,428

28% Medical
Center ($969)

22%
Research ($758)

Letter from the Vice Chancellor
for Business Affairs
I am happy to present the University of California, San Diego 2014 Annual Report,
with a financial overview of fiscal year 2012–13. The report describes the crafting of a
strategic plan to guide the campus for the next decade. UC San Diego’s future success will
require collaborating across diverse disciplines in order to solve the world’s most complex
problems, as we build on the university’s legacy of innovation and exemplary service to the
community. And most importantly, the plan going forward places a renewed and stronger
emphasis on enriching the student experience at UC San Diego.
Although UC San Diego is still a relatively young school, its excellence and growing institutional strengths are no longer a well-kept secret. Ranked among the world’s top twenty
universities, we are not the unknown campus anymore. Alumni are becoming more engaged
with their alma mater, which is reflected in the record number of alumni donors and their
support of the university. Overall private support rose significantly again this past year,
and continues its steep upward trend. By 2016, the towering new UC San Diego Jacobs
Medical Center will help to transform the San Diego region into one of the nation’s premier
medical destinations.
Financial sustainability is a critical challenge for our dynamic public institution, at a time
of diminishing dollars from state and federal sources. We are continuing to diversify our
revenue base, locate new revenue streams, find innovative ways to reduce costs, and significantly enhance our endowment.
This year I end my twenty-eight years as the vice chancellor for Business Affairs at UC San
Diego, and I depart feeling immensely grateful to have had the opportunity to serve the
wonderful students, faculty, and staff of this university. The talented people who built this
great university did so believing in a dream of tearing down the walls between disciplines
and focusing on those areas where UC San Diego could make a difference in the world. Those
talented people included members of the surrounding community who saw a great university
as the key to San Diego’s future.
That dream has been fulfilled, and I cannot begin to express my thanks for being a small
part of the miracle that is UC San Diego.

Steve Relyea
Vice Chancellor for Business Affairs
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1st

in the nation based on
positive impact on the country
Washington Monthly's College
Guide, 2013

Sunrise at Scripps Pier, UC San Diego’s
Scripps Institution of Oceanography
4

A LIFE AQUATIC

#1 for surfing and oceanography as ranked by
Surfline and the National Research Council

Student-centered
Research-focused
Service-oriented
As a public research university
with multiple pillars of
excellence, UC San Diego
transforms lives, shapes new
disciplines, and advances the
frontiers of knowledge. From
its beginnings on a dusty mesa
with rows of Quonset huts,
to the vibrant, multilayered
institution it is today, UC San
Diego has dared to be different.
A culture of interdisciplinary
collaboration, risktaking,
and innovation infuses its
institutional DNA.
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From left: Faculty/staff Strategic Plan town hall; student
speaks at another town hall
Inset: T. Denny Sanford announces gift to found the
Sanford Stem Cell Clinical Center

As a student-centered, research-focused, service-oriented public institution, UC San Diego embraces diversity,
equity, and inclusion as essential ingredients in academic
excellence. For more than a decade, the campus has been
recognized by U.S. News & World Report as one of the
top ten public universities, and for the past four years
by Washington Monthly as number one in the nation
in rankings measuring “what colleges are doing for the
country.” Academic year 2012–13 marked the fourth consecutive time that the university secured approximately
$1 billion in annual research funding.
A record 24,792 freshmen were admitted to UC San Diego
for the fall 2013 term—the most ethnically, geographically, and socioeconomically diverse class in campus
history. The number of admitted students represented an
8.1 percent increase over the previous academic year.
The new freshman class was selected from a record
67,392 applications.
Today’s students are tomorrow’s alumni—and in 2013,
alumni philanthropy was at a historic high. Every individual and every dollar represents the graduates’ confidence
in UC San Diego and the values and ideals it advances.

RETHINKING THE FUTURE OF THE
PUBLIC RESEARCH UNIVERSITY
UC San Diego’s 50th Anniversary celebration in 2010 was
both a golden milestone and a reflective moment for the
campus that had come so far so fast. What’s next was the
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inevitable question. It was time to assess the university’s
distinctive strengths and comparative advantages, develop a unifying vision for the next fifty years, and strategically implement that vision.
UC San Diego is at a critical inflection point in its history.
As one of the nation’s top public research universities,
it faces profound resource constraints on the one hand,
and transformative opportunities on the other. In today’s
diverse and interconnected world, industry leaders are
asking for a different kind of graduate: a creative problem
solver who is culturally competent and civic-minded as
well as being technically knowledgeable. Funding agencies have become increasingly focused on the societal
impact of the research projects they support. Philanthropic donors want to see the tangible impact of their gifts.
To develop a framework for sustainable excellence,
UC San Diego launched its first campuswide strategic
planning process in 2012. After establishing the
Chancellor’s Strategic Planning Council, the campus
engaged more than ten thousand stakeholders to gather
ideas and insights regarding potential challenges and
unprecedented solutions. The collaborative effort
required the commitment and bottom-up participation
of faculty, staff, students, alumni, university supporters,
and community friends.
The Chancellor’s Strategic Planning Council has set the
stage for a 2014 rollout of UC San Diego’s blueprint for
future growth. In 2013, based on preliminary input and
emerging themes and goals, campus leaders identified

$100 Million Gift
Launches Sanford Stem
Cell Clinical Center

opportunities and responded to them in a timely fashion. Key initiatives included an undergraduate
scholarship program for underserved communities in San
Diego, the new Center for Brain Activity Mapping, and a
plan to increase the number and quality of PhD students.
The campus also began a review of credit requirements to
improve time-to-degree, and commenced the renovation
of biology and chemistry labs.
Universities are unique in providing a home for basic
research, scholarly activity, and other investigations with
a longer-term payoff that cannot be carried out in industry or other settings. For the next several decades, UC San
Diego research will focus on four “grand challenge” areas
where the campus has broad and deep expertise:
1. Understanding and protecting the planet
2. Exploring the basis of human knowledge, learning,
and creativity
3. Enriching human life and society
4. Understanding cultures and improving society:
addressing disparity, social justice, access, equity,
and inclusion
Solutions to pressing, real-world issues rarely occur in
defined boxes or disciplinary areas. The nimble, multidisciplinary model for problem solving is critical to UC San
Diego’s continued success.

In a bold step toward delivering the
therapeutic promise of human stem
cells, businessman and philanthropist T. Denny Sanford committed
$100 million to the creation of the
Sanford Stem Cell Clinical Center at
UC San Diego in 2013. His gift is the
second largest donation received
by UC San Diego in its fifty-threeyear history, following only the
$110 million gift from Joan and
Irwin Jacobs to endow the UC San
Diego Jacobs School of Engineering. In 2008, Sanford donated
$30 million for the development
and construction of the Sanford Consortium for
Regenerative Medicine facility, which opened in 2011.
The Sanford Stem Cell Clinical Center will accelerate
the development of drugs and cell therapies inspired
by and derived from current human stem cell research
by establishing, promoting, and disseminating clinical
trials and patient therapies. It will provide the essential
physical and human resources needed to leverage stem
cell research currently being conducted at the Sanford
Consortium—an innovative “collaboratory” of San
Diego scientists from UC San Diego, the SanfordBurnham Medical Research Institute, the Salk Institute
for Biological Studies, The Scripps Research Institute,
the La Jolla Institute for Allergy & Immunology, and
other institutions on and around the Torrey Pines Mesa,
such as the J. Craig Venter Institute.
The new stem cell center will integrate operations at
four locations: the UC San Diego Jacobs Medical Center
and a nearby proposed clinical space, both scheduled
to open in 2016; the UC San Diego Center for Advanced
Laboratory Medicine (CALM); and the Sanford Consortium for Regenerative Medicine (SCRM).
Since 2006, the California Institute for Regenerative
Medicine (CIRM), the state’s stem cell agency, has
awarded UC San Diego scientists more than sixty grants
totaling almost $138 million, with millions more given to
other area institutions. Funding from CIRM and elsewhere has already helped push some stem cell-based
projects into early clinical trials, with more nearing
readiness.
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From left: Albert P. Pisano, dean of the Jacobs School of Engineering; Margaret Leinen, vice chancellor for
Marine Sciences, director of the Scripps Institution of Oceanography, and dean of the School of Marine Sciences;
William McGinnis, dean of the Division of Biological Sciences; Steve Gamer, vice chancellor for Advancement

NEW LEADERSHIP
Janet Napolitano was named the twentieth president
of the University of California in 2013. She served as
Secretary of Homeland Security from 2009–13, Governor
of Arizona from 2003–09, Attorney General of Arizona
from 1998–2003, and US Attorney for the District of
Arizona from 1993–97. As governor, Napolitano focused
on education, from pre-kindergarten through public
higher education.
UC San Diego recently named three new academic leaders
and a vice chancellor to direct fundraising efforts and
alumni relations. Albert (Al) P. Pisano, the new dean of
the Jacobs School of Engineering, came from UC Berkeley,
where he served as chair of the mechanical engineering
department, was acting dean of the engineering school,
and founding faculty head of the Operational Excellence
program office. He is a member of the National Academy
of Engineering and the cofounder of ten companies.
Margaret Leinen, the incoming vice chancellor for Marine
Sciences, director of the Scripps Institution of Oceanography, and dean of the School of Marine Sciences,
spent seven years at the National Science Foundation
as assistant director for geosciences and coordinator of
environmental research and education. She has extensive
national and international experience in ocean science,
global climate and environmental issues, federal
research administration, and nonprofit start-ups.
UC San Diego’s international search for a biology dean
culminated in the appointment of one of its own internationally renowned scholars. William (Bill) McGinnis,
a professor of cell and developmental biology in the
Division of Biological Sciences, and its interim dean,
is the new division head. His discoveries have shaped
scientific thinking as to how genes regulate early embryonic development. McGinnis was a Jane Coffin Childs
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postdoctoral fellow at the University of Basel in Switzerland and a professor at Yale University, where he held
joint appointments in biology, and molecular biophysics
and biochemistry.
Steve Gamer, who spent the last eleven years as a fundraising trailblazer at UCLA, is UC San Diego’s new vice
chancellor for Advancement and president of the UC
San Diego Foundation. As associate vice chancellor for
development at UCLA, Gamer oversaw a record-setting
fundraising year of $512 million in gifts and pledges in
fiscal year 2012–13. Under his leadership, the campus
expanded its fundraising capacity in multiple areas
while growing the organization to include special focus
on donor relations and stewardship, scholarship fundraising, and online giving.

CELEBRATING THE COMMUNITY,
THE UNIVERSITY, AND THE MESSAGE
James Cameron Honored
When James Cameron, the acclaimed director of Titanic,
Avatar, and Terminator films, came to UC San Diego to
claim the 2013 Nierenberg Prize for Science in the Public
Interest, he was greeted by a sold-out crowd. Mostly,
Cameron won for his historic 2012 dive to the Mariana
Trench, the deepest part of the world’s oceans, but the
prize was also a career achievement award given to a
man who described his blockbuster movies as merely the
source of money that pays for more exploration.
Cameron formally donated a lander named Deepsea
Challenge that was used during his expedition, along
with his $25,000 Nierenberg Prize money, to launch the
new Lander Lab at the Scripps Institution of Oceanography. The lab will support future uses of the lander,
an instrument system that can be sent to the deepest
parts of the ocean to deliver information on marine life,

UC San Diego is ranked
the 9th best public
university in the nation.
U.S. News & World Report, 2013

James Cameron speaks at the 2013 Nierenberg Prize for
Science in the Public Interest event.

geochemistry, tectonics, and other phenomena of interest
to individual researchers.

Health-care Revolution
Optimism met pessimism at the third annual “Atlantic
Meets the Pacific” forum, which brought thought leaders
in technology, the sciences, and health to the campus. The
Atlantic magazine and UC San Diego cohosted the threeday event. Panelists were all in agreement that the world’s
aging population, the advent of smart devices, and the
avalanche of scientific and medical data are creating both
overwhelming opportunity and overwhelming challenges
for health care in general, and cancer care in particular.

Triton Day
One of the newer campus traditions is Triton Day in
April, when the benefits of living and learning as a
UC San Diego student are on full display. Roughly
twenty thousand admitted students and their families
turned out for the second annual Triton Day in 2013,
which included demonstrations of cutting-edge research
and technology, student-guided campus tours, and live
entertainment.

This free event aims to persuade the best and brightest
students to choose UC San Diego as their undergraduate
home. Students who are weighing an enrollment decision
have an opportunity to meet with faculty and staff of
various departments. During Triton Day middle and high
school students and their families are invited to campus
to attend a college prep session, offering tools on planning for, getting into, and paying for college.

Spreading the Word
Eye-catching messages are putting UC San Diego in the
spotlight—and on the world stage. The campus advertising campaign began by highlighting the leading minds
and uncommon scholars who flourish at UC San Diego.
Next up was telling world travelers and national readers
about the research collaborations that solve the most
perplexing puzzles in science and medicine. Spirit, the
in-flight magazine for Southwest Airlines and Airtran,
touts UC San Diego’s number five ranking in R&D expenditures, medical advances, and leadership in climate
research, while Science covers groundbreaking research
in architecture and urban design. In US Airways and
Spirit, a four-page spread takes an all-encompassing
view of what draws students, faculty, and staff to
UC San Diego.

UC San Diego Annual Report 2014    9

Katzin Prizes Awarded
for Graduate Study
Four UC San Diego graduate students pursuing doctoral
degrees in the arts and humanities, sciences, and social
sciences were the inaugural recipients of the Katzin Prize
in 2013. The recipients were Tina Tallon in music, Brandon
Cisneros in chemistry, Melissa Burney in psychology,
and Lucas Chang in cognitive science. Each will receive
fellowship support of $10,000 per year for up to five
years, over and above the support packages offered by
their departments.
Established in 2012 with a $4 million endowed gift from
Jerome and Miriam Katzin, the Katzin Prize is designed
to support UC San Diego’s strategic priority of growing
its graduate student population with students who excel
across disciplines. Jerome Katzin, a retired investment
banker and chair emeritus of the UC San Diego Foundation,
together with his wife, Miriam, created the Katzin Prize
Endowment Fund to help the campus stay competitive as a
top public research university.

Campus Beautiful
The San Diego Architectural Foundation’s annual Orchids
& Onions competition highlights picks and pans in San
Diego’s built environment. UC San Diego captured three
orchids in 2013, including the top award for the Stuart
Collection’s Fallen Star by artist Do Ho Suh, the small
blue house cantilevered at an angle off the seventh floor
of the Jacobs School of Engineering building. A renovation project at Galbraith Hall, constructed in 1965 as the
university’s first central library, was honored for interior
design, and the Structural and Materials Engineering
(SME) Building won for architecture. Home to structural
engineers, nanoengineers, medical device researchers, and
visual artists, the SME building’s design encourages
interaction among faculty and students working at different scales and in different disciplines.

Presidential Medals of Freedom
Mario Molina, distinguished professor of chemistry and
biochemistry at UC San Diego, and a professor in the
climate, atmospheric science, and physical oceanography
division at Scripps Institution of Oceanography, received
the Presidential Medal of Freedom, the nation’s highest
civilian honor. Sally Ride, former professor emeritus in
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physics at UC San Diego and the first American woman in
space, was honored posthumously. They were among the
sixteen individuals who received the medal in 2013.
Ride, who was cited as “a role model to generations of
young women,” founded and led the educational company, Sally Ride Science. The US Navy recently named a
research vessel that will be operated by Scripps
Oceanography after Ride.
Molina won the Nobel Prize in Chemistry in 1995 for
his role in identifying how commonly used chemicals
called chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) damage the Earth’s
ozone layer, work that ultimately convinced governments
around the world to eliminate CFCs from spray cans and
refrigerators. He served on the Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change, was a member of President Barack
Obama’s transition team in 2008, and is currently on the
Presidential Council of Advisors on Science and
Technology (PCAST).

DIVERSIFYING REVENUE SOURCES
UC San Diego’s ongoing challenge is to maintain its
excellence, reputation, and access despite declining state
contributions to the University of California budget,

Opposite: Katzin Prize recipients (from left) Tina Tallon, Brandon
Cisneros, Melissa Burney, and Lucas Chang
This page: The Stuart Collection’s Fallen Star by Do Ho Suh won
top honors in the 2013 Orchids & Onions competition; student
volunteer at Triton Day 2013

indeterminate federal funding, and a nation that is
still struggling to recover from the Great Recession.
California currently provides only 6.6 percent of the
university’s total revenues. In academic year 2011–12,
for the first time in campus history, students contributed
more than the state to the cost of their education.

in private support—a 15 percent increase compared to
the previous year. Public and private foundations provided the largest source of support in the last fiscal year,
representing 30 percent of total funds raised. Giving by
UC San Diego alumni jumped to a record 15 percent of
the total funds raised.

To sustain its excellence in all areas, UC San Diego continues to strengthen its community ties and diversify its
revenue sources. In 2013, the campus’s total revenues
were $3.6 billion, representing a 120 percent rise since
2001, and a 63.7 percent rise since 2006.

TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER

Health-care and grants and contracts revenues remain
UC San Diego’s two largest funding sources. In 2013,
UC San Diego Medical Center revenues were $1.13 billion,
an increase of 8.8 percent over the previous year.
Most of the contracts and grants money comes from the
federal government and is allocated for research. Grants
and contracts revenue from all sources totaled $961.0
million, representing 27 percent of annual revenue, and a
one-year decrease of 2.6 percent.
For fiscal year 2012–13, a total of 30,289 donors helped to
ensure UC San Diego’s place as one of the top fifteen research universities worldwide, by raising $150.3 million

The UC San Diego Technology Transfer Office (TTO) manages the university’s technology portfolio and is responsible for patenting and licensing intellectual property
developed on campus. At fiscal year-end 2013, TTO managed more than 3,000 innovations and approximately 400
active license agreements. The total portfolio consists of
816 US and 836 foreign active patents, with 62 US and 177
foreign patents issued during fiscal year 2012–13. During
that period, fifteen new start-up companies were formed
with licensed UC San Diego innovations.
To date, more than 650 companies have been launched by
and/or use technology produced by UC San Diego faculty,
staff, and alumni, including many San Diego biotech and
technology firms. Of this group, more than 185 start-ups
have licensed university technology from TTO to found
their companies.
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More than 30 campus
structures are equipped
with solar panels and more
than a dozen buildings are
LEED certified.

SUSTAINABILITY STARS

STRATEGIC NEW ACADEMIC DIRECTIONS

UC San Diego is a living laboratory where environmental
sustainability comes alive. In 2013, the campus was one
of seven colleges in California to achieve a Sustainability
Tracking, Assessment & Rating System™ (STARS) gold
rating, which will remain in effect for three years.

Recruitment in 2013 for the general campus, School of
Medicine, and Scripps Institution of Oceanography at
UC San Diego yielded a diverse group of seventy-four
new faculty members. Among them were several interdisciplinary hires who will play key roles in shaping four
research initiatives that were established in the 2011–12
academic year. These initiatives are interdisciplinary in
nature, assure a competitive advantage for the campus,
and focus on major societal problems.

The annual STARS survey, administered by the Association for the Advancement of Sustainability in Higher
Education, is based on concrete performance metrics at
participating institutions in three sustainability-focused
categories: education and research, operations and planning, and administration and engagement. The survey
gauged hundreds of factors at UC San Diego, including
campus use of alternative transportation, water conservation, energy efficiency, green building accreditations,
recycling levels, sustainable purchasing, and the number
of student sustainability organizations.
“Making Zero a Reality” was the theme for the campus’s
annual Earth Week celebration in April 2013, illustrating
UC San Diego’s efforts to reduce its carbon footprint. Target dates are zero waste by 2020 and climate neutrality
by 2025. Events included a campus cleanup, documentary
screening of Bag It, trash sort, sustainability awards ceremony, and volunteer gardening opportunity. Student sustainability organizations led many of the activities, which
included a guest appearance—sponsored by the Student
Sustainability Collective—by Van Jones, former special
adviser for green jobs in the Obama administration.
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•

The Center for Educational Excellence will position
UC San Diego as a national model for excellence in
undergraduate and graduate education. The initiative,
with its emphasis on engaged teaching and engaged
learning, is a bold, campuswide effort to revamp
graduate and undergraduate curricula. Its major
components are technology-enhanced education,
including online learning; cocurricular and out-ofclass activities; engagement inside the classroom;
and real-world preparedness, transferable skills, and
career competencies.

•

Quantitative biology (q-bio) will be the catalyst for
future applications in medicine that will transform
diagnosis and therapeutics. To jumpstart the q-bio
initiative, UC San Diego hired eight faculty members
with additional recruitments related to the initiative
in process, is developing a graduate program with a
specialization in q-bio, and will eventually offer an

Opposite: 2013 Sustainability Awards ceremony
This page, from left: 2013 Postdoctoral Scholar Award
recipients Che-Ming Jack Hu, PhD; Ping Piu Kuo, PhD;
Carl Melis, PhD; and Kristen Tolson, PhD

undergraduate major. The educational result will be a
new generation of scientists who are highly focused
on the quantitative aspects of biology.
•

The design initiative will blend the university’s work
in social and cognitive sciences, focusing on the
teaching and study of the visual imagination, and the
engineering of new products and processes.

•

The advanced energy technology initiative will focus
on the technologies, sciences, and policies of the new
energy economy.

Diversity is a core value in the campus strategic plan. In
2012 the campus created a vice chancellorship for Equity,
Diversity, and Inclusion and has continued to emphasize
the hiring of a diverse faculty. The implementation of best
practices in faculty hiring has contributed to a tenfold
rise in African American and a twofold rise in Hispanic
academic hires within the most recent three-year period,
compared with the previous three-year period.
UC San Diego currently has 172 endowed chairs, including 14 that were established in the timeframe from fall
2012 to winter 2014.

NEW DEGREES, NEW PROGRAMS
New graduate degrees established in the 2012–13 academic year include a PhD in structural engineering with
a concentration in computational sciences, a PhD in art
history theory and criticism with a specialization in anthropogeny, and a PhD in art history theory and criticism
with a concentration in art practice and a specialization
in anthropogeny. New undergraduate degrees include a BS
in public health, which is the first undergraduate program
ever offered by the School of Medicine, and a BS in marine
biology. A BS in bioscience is currently under development.
A new Organized Research Unit (ORU), the Center for
Drug Discovery Innovation, was launched in the 2012–13
academic year. ORUs are designed to promote interdisciplinary research on the general campus, in Health
Sciences, and at the Scripps Institution of Oceanography.

Emerging Experts
in Their Fields
UC San Diego’s 1,250 postdoctoral scholars,
one of the smallest academic demographics on
campus, skillfully manage immense research
projects, secure grants to support the continuation of their work, present their findings at
conferences, and mentor budding students.
Occupying a unique place in academia, these
ambitious scholars possess a doctoral degree
and choose to advance their knowledge by taking
a research training position after completion of
a formal graduate program. Many specialize in
the natural sciences and medicine and use the
opportunity to bridge their knowledge with a
related field. They spend up to five years training
under a faculty member before continuing on to
faculty positions, launching their own laboratory,
or beginning a career in a related industry.
In fall 2013, UC San Diego’s postdocs were invited
to celebrate and connect during the fourth annual
Postdoc Appreciation Week. New this year was
the Research Symposium, which offered participants a chance to present their work to a variety
of audiences, attend career-building workshops,
and engage in networking events. The inaugural
Chancellor’s Postdoctoral Scholar Awards, which
recognize standout contributions in research,
mentoring, service, and professional engagement, went to four postdoctoral scholars: Kristen
Tolson, reproductive medicine; Che-Ming Jack
Hu, nanoengineering; Ping Piu Kuo, electrical and
computer engineering; and Carl Melis, physics.
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Sitting with Champions
Success over time characterizes great collegiate
athletic programs, and UC San Diego softball is no
exception. It is no coincidence that the 2011 NCAA title
came just a year after the opening of the renovated
Triton softball field. This state-of-the-art facility has
generated increased visibility and helped push Triton
softball to a new level of achievement.
The current objective is not only to win future national
championships, but to do so on the Triton’s home
field. The next step is to install permanent seating.
The UC San Diego Softball Seating Campaign is
seeking sponsors of one or more seats at $500 per
seat. A personalized inscription will appear on each
chair back section.
The plan is to create a chair back section of 313
seats in the area behind home plate. This would
enhance the opportunity to host NCAA postseason
events, including the NCAA Championship, and provide a
more viable option for additional high caliber softball competitions such as the CIF Championships.

SCHOLARSHIPS AND FELLOWSHIPS

GLOBAL REACH

Increasing student support is a key priority at UC San
Diego. Approximately 60 percent of UC San Diego’s
undergraduates receive need-based support, and
15 percent of graduate students receive fellowships.

UC San Diego is a national leader in long-term study
abroad, ranking eighth in the nation among doctoral institutions, according to the Institute of International Education Open Doors Report. Of the twelve hundred students
who go abroad each year, roughly one hundred stay for
twelve months or longer to study and conduct research.
The university’s Programs Abroad Office helps students
find international courses that will satisfy their degree
requirements without adding to their time-to-graduation.

Scholarships keep a world-class education accessible to
all who are motivated to work hard and dream big. Funding undergraduate scholarships is critical so that UC San
Diego can continue to attract the most talented students
from all backgrounds, regardless of their financial circumstances. Support from donors touches the lives of
students—and these students, in turn, touch the world.
Upon graduation, UC San Diego students will become the
leaders and innovators of tomorrow.
Graduate students help to fuel the discoveries that
define a major research university. In addition to their
own pursuit of knowledge, they are vital participants in
instructing undergraduates. In today’s knowledgeintensive industries, the demand for expert, extensively
trained professionals outstrips academia’s current output.
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UC San Diego 2013 women’s
softball team

In 2014, for the fourth consecutive year, UC San Diego
placed in the top fifteen in the Peace Corps’ annual rankings of large universities—earning the number twelve
spot nationally and ranking number four among large
California schools. To date, the university has produced
774 volunteers, and there are currently 54 undergraduate
alumni serving overseas in the Peace Corps. Since 1961,
the Peace Corps, an international service organization of
the United States, has sent Americans abroad to tackle the
most pressing needs of people around the world. Peace
Corps volunteers work at the grassroots level with local
governments, schools, communities, small businesses,
and entrepreneurs to develop sustainable solutions that
address challenges in education, health, economic development, agriculture, environment, and youth development.

In 2013, nearly 10,000
alumni made a gift, an
8.3 percent increase over
the previous year.

Alumni Weekend 2013

UCSD Alumni
A New Model for Higher Education
UCSD Alumni represents more than 154,000 alumni
at the forefront of the sciences, business, research,
the arts, social innovation, and politics. To leverage
the power of these talented graduates, the university’s
Career Services Center (CSC) integrated with Alumni and
Constituent Engagement (ACE) in fall 2013.
This innovative partnership is a new model for higher
education. It inspires alumni to participate in the educational, career, and professional development of UC San
Diego students and serve as key providers of internships
and employment.
Learning about the experiences of alumni and taking
advantage of their corporate contacts help students
define and achieve their own long-term career goals. It
also fosters their engagement with the campus community
and a lifelong relationship with their alma mater.
UCSD Alumni and Career Services Center provide
resources, programs, and services to students and alumni
seeking career planning, graduate and professionalschool advising, job and internship search preparation,
and employment opportunities. The center’s preparatory

services include resume critiquing, job search workshops,
and mock interview practice.
Future initiatives will offer a high level of student and
alumni engagement. Alumni in the venture capital field
will teach an entrepreneur careers seminar focused on
the “Idea to the I.P.O.” The Triton Externship Program,
sponsored by alumni professionals, will provide job shadowing to give students a sense of available career options
and required competencies. Another initiative, Career
Discovery Week, is a weeklong series of panels and events
in which more than one hundred alumni share their career
insights with more than one thousand students.
The Alumni Advisor Network, which UCSD Alumni and
Career Services Center launched in 2013, is an online
platform that connects alumni to current students.
Powered by Evisors.com, the service allows students
to search alumni by industry, employer, geographical
location, degree, and experience. Once students find the
perfect match, they can connect one-to-one with alumni
via a thirty-minute phone or online session. Alumni may
share industry knowledge and expertise, critique the
student’s resume from a hiring manager’s point of view,
or conduct a mock employment interview.
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Philanthropic
Game Changer
Alumni are UC San Diego’s most permanent constituency. Their gifts support scholarships, fellowships,
research, innovation, and student programs of various
kinds. In 2013, for the third consecutive year, alumni
philanthropy shattered previous records in both the
number of donors and the total amount of donations.
Nearly ten thousand alumni gave a total of approximately $23 million, which included an $18.5 million
gift from an anonymous donor to the Department
of Computer Science and Engineering (CSE) at the
Jacobs School of Engineering. The number of donors
increased by 8.3 percent over the previous year and
24 percent over the past three years.
The $18.5 million contribution—the largest alumni
gift in campus history—was a game changer, both in
terms of alumni support and in terms of its impact.
The money will fund five new faculty endowed
chairs, state-of-the-art teaching labs, fellowships
for graduate students, and expanded mentoring and
tutoring programs for undergraduates. The gift will
provide just over half of the estimated $5.5 million
needed for a 7,000-square-foot expansion and remodel of the CSE building.

CAREER CONVERSATIONS THAT COUNT
Whether it’s a booming biotechnology company in San
Diego, an entertainment studio in Burbank, or a hightech start-up in Silicon Valley, UC San Diego graduates
have left their mark all over California. There are currently more than forty-five thousand alumni in San Diego
County, twenty-one thousand in Greater Los Angeles,
more than twenty thousand in the San Francisco Bay
Area—and still counting.
Triton Connect, a series of customized networking
events designed to meet the needs of alumni in each of
these three regions, drew three hundred participants in
fall 2013. Panelists and keynote speakers consisted of
seasoned alumni who shared valuable insights regarding their industries, and the importance of networking
in achieving professional success. In an effort to connect younger graduates with experienced professionals,
distinguished alumni were invited as “champions,” to
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2013 Triton 5K participants
raised approximately $300,000
for scholarships.

answer questions and offer guidance during the networking portion of the event.
By far the largest employer of UC San Diego alumni is
the university itself. The next five, in order of size, are
Qualcomm, Google, Northrop Grumman, HewlettPackard, and Kaiser Permanente. As for industries, the
top five sectors are computer software, biotechnology,
research, hospital/health care, and higher education.

FUN, FITNESS, AND FUNDRAISING
The Triton 5K, a yearly campus ritual, builds firm abs
and a healthy bottom line. Established in 1996, the race
has raised more than $3.3 million, benefitting more than
nine hundred UC San Diego students. In June 2013, as
part of the annual alumni weekend, the Triton 5K drew
over twenty-five hundred alumni, faculty, staff, students, and community members and brought in roughly
$300,000 for student scholarships.
Participants had the chance to run (or walk) past
renowned art pieces on campus from the Stuart Collection, including the stone Bear and the iconic Sun God.
New this year was the one hundred-meter-dash Kids Fun
Run, with approximately two hundred of the university’s
smallest Tritons, ages twelve and under. Following the
race, more than three thousand participants and supporters enjoyed the event festival featuring live music, jousting, inflatable bounce houses, and a healthy living fair.
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In fiscal year 2013, a total
of 30,289 donors helped
raise $150.3 million in
private support for the
university.

Private Support

UC San Diego Raises $150 Million
As a leading research university and academic powerhouse, UC San Diego spurs innovation and economic
growth that addresses local, national, and global challenges. For fiscal year 2012–13, a total of 30,289 donors
helped to continue this legacy of achievement, raising
$150.3 million in private support—a 15 percent increase
over the previous year.
Private gifts fund support for students, construct academic and medical buildings, ensure excellent patient
care, fuel research, foster the arts, and promise a diverse
student experience.

Half of all private support given in 2012–13 was designated for research to support the next invention, cure, or
breakthrough and continue UC San Diego’s impact on the
community and the world.
Alumni giving, which jumped to a record 15 percent of the
total funds raised in 2012–13, included an $18.5 million
gift—the largest ever from a single UC San Diego alumnus.
The largest source of support, representing 30 percent
of total funds raised, was from public and private
foundations. The Paul G. Allen Family Foundation
awarded $1.6 million to assistant professor of physics and molecular biology Suckjoon Jun, one of the

Private Support by Purpose
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campus’s new generation of scientists fluent in both
physics and biology.
Funding scholarships and fellowships for all students
who need them is of key importance for our campus.
UC San Diego’s more than five thousand graduate
students raise the caliber of the university’s work by
advancing groundbreaking discoveries, driving innovation, and generating new knowledge and leadership.
Following is a sampling of gifts made to UC San Diego in
fiscal year 2012–13:
$4.6 million – Gift from the US Hereditary Angioedema
Association to create an endowed chair, endowed center,
and faculty support for research in angioedema;
$4.3 million – Grant from the Simons Foundation to the
Center for Astrophysics and Space Sciences;
$4.3 million – Gifts from Joan and Irwin Jacobs to support the Moores Cancer Center, Jacobs Scholars, Dean’s
Excellence Innovation Fund, School of International
Relations and Pacific Studies, Division of Arts and Humanities, and The Preuss School UCSD;
$3.7 million – Bequest from Ben and Wanda Hildyard to
create three new endowed chairs for research in hereditary, mitochondrial, and eye diseases;

Zables Give
Generous Bequest
A $6.05 million bequest to the UC San Diego
Foundation in 2013 was given by the late Cubic
Corporation founder Walter J. Zable and his
wife, Betty C. Zable, through their charitable
remainder unitrust. The bequest has been
allocated by the Foundation as follows:
•

$1 million to establish the Zable Endowed
Chair in Management Leadership at the
Rady School of Management;

•

$2 million – Grant from the Qualcomm Foundation to
benefit UC San Diego’s Qualcomm Institute and to support other areas of the campus.

$1 million to establish the Zable Endowed
Chair in Energy Technologies at the UC San
Diego Jacobs School of Engineering;

•

To review the FY 2012–13 UC San Diego Foundation
financial overview, see www.annualreport.ucsd.edu/2014.

$100,000 for use by the UC San Diego
Shiley Eye Center;

•

$3.9 million in unrestricted funds allocated
at the chancellor’s request to establish the
endowed Zable Scholarship and Fellowship Program.

$2.4 million – Grants from the Gordon and Betty Moore
Foundation to Integrative Oceanography and the
Qualcomm Institute;

Total Endowment for UC San Diego
Fiscal Year 2012–13
700

Market Value in Millions

600
500
400
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the UC Regents

100
0

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

As managed by
the UC Regents

As managed by the
UC San Diego Foundation

Walter Zable, who died in June 2012 at the age
of ninety-seven, founded San Diego-based
Cubic Corporation in 1951 and served until his
death as chief executive, chairman, and president of the public corporation that provides
military defense equipment and automated
fare collection equipment. Over the years,
the Zables were loyal donors to the campus,
in support of various initiatives to UC San
Diego’s general campus, Scripps Institution of
Oceanography, and Health Sciences.

As managed by the
UC San Diego Foundation
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2013 Medalists
UC San Diego selected one couple, Arthur and Molli
Wagner, and one individual, Conrad Prebys, to receive
Chancellor’s Medals in 2013 in recognition of their outstanding support of the university’s mission. Conceived
in 2000, the medal is one of the highest honors bestowed
by UC San Diego for long-standing involvement with the
campus and multiple contributions to university life.
The Revelle Medal, revived by Chancellor Pradeep K.
Khosla in 2013 after a decade-long hiatus, was awarded
to Walter Munk. The medal recognizes current and former UC San Diego faculty members for sustained, distinguished, and extraordinary service to the campus. It was
created in honor of Roger Revelle, who helped establish
UC San Diego during his tenure as director of Scripps
Institution of Oceanography from 1950–64.

Conrad Prebys

Arthur and Molli Wagner

Walter Munk

For over a decade, the leadership and
generous support of philanthropist
Conrad Prebys has made a huge difference in the San Diego community. For
the past forty years, he had a successful career as a real estate developer
and property manager in San Diego,
with a focus on affordable housing.

Arthur and Molli Wagner arrived at
UC San Diego in 1972, when Arthur
was appointed founding chair of the
drama department, now the Department of Theatre and Dance—and
recognized as one of the top three in
the country. He also played a large
role in shaping the educational theatre
system in the United States.

Oceanographer Walter Munk, a
long-standing University of California
icon, is now the recipient of an award
named for another iconic campus
leader—Roger Revelle. Commonly
referred to as the “greatest living
oceanographer,” Munk is widely
recognized for his groundbreaking
investigations of wave propagation,
tides, currents, circulation, and other
aspects of the ocean and Earth. The
ninety-five-year-old scientist, who
is still active at Scripps Institution
of Oceanography, won the National
Medal of Science and the Kyoto Prize
in Basic Sciences, and was named
the inaugural recipient of the Prince
Albert I Medal in the physical sciences
of the oceans.

Prebys provided the most significant
gifts in the history of UC San Diego’s
music program, giving $6 million
to build the Conrad Prebys Music
Center, which houses a world-class
concert hall designed by one of the
most distinguished acousticians
in the world. Prebys subsequently
established a $3 million endowment
for graduate student fellowships and
to maintain the concert hall’s infrastructure. He has also given to
UC San Diego Moores Cancer Center and The Preuss School UCSD.
Community organizations that have
benefited from his generosity include
the San Diego Zoo, Scripps Health,
and the Old Globe Theatre.
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The Wagners have provided funding
for the Molli and Arthur Wagner Dance
Building, Arthur Wagner Theatre,
Wagner Endowed Graduate Acting
Fellowship, and Arthur and Molli
Wagner Endowed Chair in Acting—the
only one of its kind in the nation. They
also provided the lead gift for the
Student Production Fund Endowment
and serve as cochairs of the endowment, which aims to provide continued funding for student productions,
despite state budget cuts. In recognition of the Wagners’ generosity, the
campus renamed the Wagner New
Play Festival in their honor.

Munk became a professor of geophysics in 1954 and was named a member of the University of California's
Institute of Geophysics. In 1960, he
established a branch of the institute at
Scripps in La Jolla, serving as director
of the Scripps division until 1982.

Letter from the Chair of the
UC San Diego Foundation Board
As the chair of the board of the UC San Diego Foundation, I am pleased to
represent the trustees to our community, our supporters, and our alumni. It
is a privilege to work with Chancellor Khosla as the campus implements its
long-range strategic plan and to engage with donors to enhance philanthropic
support to UC San Diego.
Private support is critical in realizing UC San Diego’s goals and enhancing our
reputation and impact—now and in the future. The accomplishments of so
many of our prestigious schools, divisions, departments, and research centers
would not have been possible without the generous support of our friends.
In fiscal year 2012–13 we completed our “Invent the Future” student support
campaign, raising more than $50 million over three years for undergraduate
scholarships and graduate student fellowships. In past years, the UC San Diego
Foundation received significant gifts for the Jacobs Medical Center, Rady School
of Management, Skaggs School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences,
Shiley Eye Center, and Geisel Library, to name only a few. There are now over
170 named endowed faculty chairs, and many endowed and expendable funds
for research, scholarships, fellowships, and support of divisions making up the
$644 million in net assets in the Foundation as of June 30, 2013. Throughout
this annual report you will read stories about the impact our donors are making
with their gifts, and we cannot convey our thanks to them in any adequate way.
UC San Diego is truly an exciting place. The next decade will bring incredible
advancements to the world for the betterment of human life and the planet, and
our campus will play an important role in making those discoveries. In many
ways, charitable support will be the impetus to the creation of a big new idea or
a solution.
I also would like to take this opportunity to welcome to UC San Diego the
new president of the UC San Diego Foundation and vice chancellor for
Advancement, Steve Gamer. Raising significant private support for this
campus is of paramount importance, and he has the experience and passion
necessary for our success.
Thank you for another great year.

Peter Preuss
Chair of the Board
UC San Diego Foundation

UC San Diego Annual Report 2014    21

UC San Diego Foundation 2013–14 Board of Trustees
CHANCELLOR
Pradeep K. Khosla
University of California, San Diego

TRUSTEE
Dr. John Cambon ’74
Principal, Regent Partners, LLC

CHAIR
Mr. Peter G. Preuss ’67
President, Preuss Foundation, Inc.

TRUSTEE
Mr. Mark Diamond ’87
President and CEO, Contoural, Inc.

VICE CHAIR
Ms. Carol Chang
Community Leader

TRUSTEE
Dr. Robert C. Dynes
President Emeritus,
University of California

VICE CHAIR
Mr. Sheldon Engelhorn ’72
Private Investor
TREASURER
Mr. Eugene Step
Private Investor
PRESIDENT
Mr. Steve Gamer
Vice Chancellor for Advancement
TRUSTEE
Mr. Ernesto Arredondo Jr.
Vice President & President, Wells Fargo
TRUSTEE
Ms. Deborah Bronston-Culp
Private Investor
Managing Partner, Samothrace
Partners, LLC
TRUSTEE
Ms. Julia Brown
Targacept, Inc.
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TRUSTEE
Ms. Phyllis Epstein
Community Leader
TRUSTEE
Ms. Deborah Friedlaender ’90
Community Leader
TRUSTEE
Mr. Augustine Gallego
Chancellor Emeritus, San Diego
Community College District
TRUSTEE
Mr. Donald Grimm
Chairman and President, Strategic
Design, LLC

TRUSTEE
Mr. Gary E. Jacobs ’79
Managing Director, Jacobs Investment
Company LLC
TRUSTEE
Dr. Sanjay Jha
Former CEO, Motorola
TRUSTEE
Mr. Mel Katz
CEO, MANPOWER
TRUSTEE
Mr. Jessie J. Knight Jr.
Chairman & CEO, San Diego
Gas & Electric
TRUSTEE
Mr. Jeffrey Krinsk
Attorney, Finkelstein & Krinsk
TRUSTEE
Dr. Kenneth F. Kroner ’88
Senior Managing Director, BlackRock
TRUSTEE
Mr. George W. Lattimer
Private Investor

TRUSTEE
Mr. George Haligowski
Private Investor

TRUSTEE
Mr. Robert S. Marren ’86
Managing Director, Allianz Global
Investors

TRUSTEE
Mr. Steven R. Hart ’80
Vice President, Chief Technical Officer,
Co-Founder, ViaSat Inc.

TRUSTEE
Mr. Robert McNeely
Retired, Executive Vice President,
Union Bank
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TRUSTEE
Mr. Donald W. Murphy ’75
Retired, Former CEO, National
Underground Railroad Freedom Center

TRUSTEE
Mr. Stephen Schreiner ’80
Partner, Solomon, Ward, Seidenwurm,
& Smith, LLP

CHAIRS EMERETI

TRUSTEE/ALUMNI
ASSOCIATION PRESIDENT
Mr. Matt Newsome ’91
Vice President & Regional Director, Cubic
Transportation Systems

TRUSTEE
Mr. William H. Scripps
President, W. H. Scripps Company

Dr. J. R. Beyster
Founder and Former Chairman, CEO,
and President, SAIC

TRUSTEE
Drew Senyei, MD
Managing Director, Enterprise Partners
Venture Capital

Mr. Malin Burnham
President, The Burnham Foundation

TRUSTEE
Mr. Paul A. Peterson
Retired, Peterson and Price, Lawyers
TRUSTEE/FACULTY
REPRESENTATIVE
Frank L. Powell, PhD
Professor of Medicine
TRUSTEE
Mr. Ernest Rady
Chairman, American Assets Inc.
TRUSTEE
Ms. Ann Reed
Community Leader
TRUSTEE
Mr. Rudolph J. Rehm
Finance Partner, DCM
TRUSTEE
Ms. Lynn Schenk
Former Congresswoman
Attorney at Law

TRUSTEE
Mr. Kwan So
President, EVG Enterprises, Inc.
TRUSTEE
Dr. Junling Sun ‘93
President & CEO, Sun Engineering
Consultants International, Inc.
TRUSTEE
Ms. Carol Vassiliadis
President, Laki Real Estate Corporation
TRUSTEE
Mr. Christopher Weil
Chair, Christopher Weil & Company, Inc.

Mr. William E. Beamer
Beamer, Lauth, Steinley & Bond, LLP

Ms. Pauline Foster
President, Foster Investments/
Community Leader
Ms. Elaine Galinson
Community Leader
Mr. Jerome S. Katzin
Retired, Investment Banker
Mr. R. Barry McComic (not pictured)
Chairman/CEO, McComic
Consolidated, Inc.
Mr. Duane J. Roth
(1949–2013)
CEO, CONNECT
Mr. Ronald R. Taylor
Chairman of the Board, EMN8
Monroe E. Trout, MD, JD
Retired Chairman, American Health Care
Systems
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15th

best research university in
the world for scientific impact
Centre for Science and Technology
Studies of Leiden University, 2013

Experiential learning is a cornerstone of UC San
Diego’s education initiative, which is putting undergraduate learning under a microscope as part of the
university’s strategic planning process. Real-world preparedness, transferable skills, and career competencies
are under discussion, and undergraduate research can
benefit all three.
A new undergraduate research portal (urp.ucsd.edu),
created in academic year 2012–13, is a one-stop shop
for students, faculty, and external providers of research
opportunities. Students can post their résumés or CVs,
and employers can post their intern requests on a single
website, which showcases various research programs. A
searchable database containing research opportunities
includes volunteering, internships, part-time positions,
and even entrepreneurial projects.
Some programs have a global flavor. In summer 2013,
eight UC San Diego students and eight students from a
Taiwanese university traveled abroad to participate in a
research exchange program. Future exchanges will likely include China, Korea, India, and other nations that
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Since its launch, the Undergraduate
Research Portal has attracted
15,000 unique visitors, including
more than 3,000 student users.

are strategically important to UC San Diego’s global
partnering agenda.
With roughly one thousand faculty members and twentysix thousand undergraduates, the university increasingly relies on external partners to supplement research
options. Prime targets are companies within a five-mile
radius of the campus. For an enterprise, internships are a
welcome source of free labor and future employees.
The Regents Scholarship, based on academic excellence,
is the most prestigious scholarship awarded to University of California undergraduates. The Regents Scholars
Research Initiative (RSRI), which guarantees talented
incoming students an undergraduate research experience
from day one, accommodated fifty-nine UC San Diego
freshmen and seven transfer students in 2013.

This page: Students from the Environmental
Systems Program (ESYS) present senior projects at
the 2013 ESYS Symposium and Alumni Reunion.
Inset: Jacobs School of Engineering student
researchers
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Outreach SOS

UC San Diego is ranked
the 14th best value public
university in the nation.
Kiplinger's Personal Finance, 2014

Plugging the Leaks in the Education Pipeline
STEM disciplines (science, technology, engineering,
mathematics) fuel San Diego’s knowledge economy.
Unfortunately, many of the region’s K–20 (kindergarten
through graduate) students currently leak out of the
STEM education pipeline.
In summer 2013, the university’s Center for Research on
Educational Equity, Assessment, and Teaching Excellence
(CREATE) joined campus colleagues and community
supporters in launching CREATE STEM Success. The initiative links faculty, staff, and students across multiple
campus divisions with the local education community in
a systematic effort to help underserved students succeed.
UC San Diego has many successful STEM outreach
programs underway. The new initiative will strengthen
existing and future activities through coordination,
assessment, planning, and funding strategies.
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SEEING IS BELIEVING—AND LEARNING
The nineteenth annual Conference for African American
Researchers in the Mathematical Sciences (CAARMS),
hosted by UC San Diego in 2013, demonstrated how
applicable mathematics is in the real world. Participants included researchers in both pure and applied
mathematics such as information technology, banking,
neuroscience, and engineering. Students from high
school to graduate school as well as postdoctoral
scholars attended.
Of the 1,430 mathematical sciences doctorates awarded
nationally in 2008–09, just 2.5 percent went to scholars
who self-identified as African Americans. UC San Diego’s
support for CAARMS is one of many initiatives to mitigate
this disparity.

Chancellor’s Associates
Scholars Program
The Chancellor’s Associates Scholars Program aids
local students in realizing their dream of a college
education. Gompers Preparatory Academy, Lincoln
High School, and The Preuss School UCSD work with
historically underserved communities. In fall 2013,
graduates from these three local high schools
became eligible for a new undergraduate scholarship
program—the Chancellor’s Associates Scholars,
providing $10,000 annually for four years at UC San
Diego. To qualify, students must be accepted to
UC San Diego and be eligible for the University of
California’s Blue + Gold Opportunity Plan, which covers
educational and student services fees for California
residents whose families earn less than $80,000 a year
and meet the university’s standards for financial aid.

Opposite: Conference for African American Researchers in
the Mathematical Sciences
This page, top: Chancellor’s Associates Scholars Program
announcement; Below, from left: 2013 Chancellor’s
Associates Scholars Kimberly Rios, Efrain Gonzalez, and
Jesenia Carreon

SUMMER SCIENCE CAMP
AT QUALCOMM INSTITUTE

engineering and an opportunity to learn about robotics
and the basics of programming.

Early outreach is critical to the campus mission of
diversity, equity, and inclusion. A visit to the UC San Diego
Qualcomm Institute in 2013 provoked a heated scientific
debate among nine-year-olds about the history of aviation.
It was part of a tour arranged for the Elementary Institute
of Science (EIS), a summer camp for elementary and middle school students interested in the STEM fields. Several
EIS instructors are UC San Diego students.

EXTENSION REACHES OUT

Robot Hat Day, a six-week summer program of the
Qualcomm Institute in 2013, focused on fourteen-tosixteen-year-old girls from low-income neighborhoods. For many of the girls, it was their first taste of

UC San Diego Extended Studies nimbly serves knowledge
and skill development needs as they arise. In academic
year 2012–13, 1,700 Extension students enrolled in
STEM courses, and 475 high school students participated in the Academic Connections summer program.
Geared toward high-achieving high school students and
covering a wide range of academic disciplines, Academic
Connections offered college-level classes at UC San
Diego, Los Alamos Labs in New Mexico, and Biosphere
in Arizona and Hawaii. Scholarships were provided for
25 percent of the students.
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UC San Diego Health System
was named the best hospital
in San Diego.
U.S. News & World Report, 2013

The Jacobs Medical Center, scheduled to open in
2016, will allow UC San Diego Health System to
employ nearly 600 additional staff—all focused on
providing the highest quality of care and patient
safety to meet the growing needs of the community.

Health Sciences

Towering Achievements
In fall 2013, UC San Diego celebrated the “topping out”
of UC San Diego Jacobs Medical Center, the largest
hospital project in southern California. Special
guests—including elected officials, community leaders,
and university administrators—signed a steel construction beam, which was then hoisted to the top of the
ten-story, 509,500 square-foot structure. The “topping
out” ceremony marked the midpoint between groundbreaking and completion of the center, which is scheduled to open in 2016.
Jacobs Medical Center, an $839 million addition to UC
San Diego Health System’s La Jolla campus, is part of
a multi-billion-dollar university investment in future
health care for the region. When it opens, the center will
house 245 patient beds and include three specialized
hospitals: the Hospital for Advanced Surgery, the Hospital for Cancer Care, and the Hospital for Women and
Infants. The facility will anchor the La Jolla medical
campus, which consists of Thornton Hospital, Sulpizio
Cardiovascular Center, Moores Cancer Center, Shiley Eye
Center, and the Altman Clinical and Translational
Research Institute (CTRI) building. The last is also
slated for a 2016 opening.
As an academic health system, Jacobs Medical Center
will combine soothing environments for healing with
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evidence-based medical and surgical treatments, many
developed at UC San Diego, to achieve the best possible outcomes for patients. UC San Diego surgeons have
pioneered innovations in robotic technology, miniaturized
microsurgery, single-incision laparoscopy, and natural
orifice transluminal surgery. At the Hospital for Advanced
Surgery, the design of the new operating rooms will
accommodate these lifesaving techniques while promoting
surgical safety. Patients will recover in one of twenty-four
Intensive Care Unit (ICU) or twelve Intermediate Care
Unit (IMU) rooms. All of these rooms will be private and
include a bathroom and foldout bed for a family member.
The new Hospital for Women and Infants will encompass
the full spectrum of care—from maternal intensive care
to soft-touch, midwifery based birthing. For high-risk
newborns, the regional Level III Newborn Intensive Care
Unit will offer innovative care protocols customized to
meet the needs of individual babies.
The $269 million Altman CTRI will help scientists understand disease pathogenesis; develop new methods
of treatment, diagnosis, and prevention; translate the
results into clinical practice; and study the effectiveness
of these cutting-edge approaches.

This page: Joan and Irwin Jacobs sign a
steel construction beam at the UC San Diego
Jacobs Medical Center "topping out" ceremony.
Inset: Jacobs Medical Center under contruction

A Matter of
Life and Breath
In late 2013, surgeons at UC San Diego
Health System performed their three
thousandth pulmonary thromboendarterectomy (PTE). Few institutions in the world
offer this lifesaving surgery that clears the
pulmonary arteries of scar-like clot tissue.
Patients who arrive at UC San Diego
Sulpizio Cardiovascular Center seeking
surgical removal of these clots share a common trait: breathlessness. The clots cause
thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension,
which can lead to a life-threatening form of
heart failure.
The eight-hour surgery is a feat not only
for the patient, but for the surgeon. In order
for the clots to be removed, the surgeon
must be able to see clearly into the lung’s
arteries. This means operating without
blood present. To achieve this environment,
the patient’s body is cooled and then put
on a cardiopulmonary bypass machine. The
machine is stopped for twenty minutes,
while the surgeon races against the clock
to remove any blockages. During this time
both the heart rate and brain waves flat line.
Once the arteries and lungs are cleared of
disease, the patient is resuscitated.
UC San Diego Health System has more
experience in performing this surgery than
any other institution globally. The program
experienced a less-than 1 percent mortality rate for the past two years—the lowest
known postoperative rate worldwide. The
procedure can reverse heart failure and
is considered more effective than lung
transplantation.
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Personalized Care
The Future of Cancer Therapy
No two cancers are alike, just as no two people are.
Based on genetic testing results, a patient’s options
might include a new treatment being studied in a clinical
trial. The newly created Center for Personalized Cancer
Therapy at UC San Diego Moores Cancer Center aims
to transform cancer treatment by matching identified
mutations or abnormalities in each patient’s genetic

Jacobs Leadership Gift
A leadership gift of $1 million in 2013 from San Diego
philanthropists Joan and Irwin Jacobs will help UC San
Diego Moores Cancer Center change how cancer is
treated by supporting the new Center for Personalized
Cancer Therapy. The gift jumpstarts an initiative to
create a world-class center for clinical trials in cancer
at Moores Cancer Center. The contribution is the most
recent in a series of generous gifts from the Jacobses
who are key supporters of UC San Diego health care,
education, and research programs.
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profile with specifically tailored therapies. The purpose
is to produce the optimal benefit with the least adverse
effect for the individual patient. Every person, in effect,
becomes his or her own clinical trial.
Every year, scores of compounds and molecules with
suspected anticancer properties are tested in lengthy,
complex clinical trials—in an effort to narrow down the
field of new-drug candidates to those with a therapeutic
effect, however small, on a significantly large number of
patients. The benefits may be marginal, but no matter.
In the process, countless drug candidates that might
greatly benefit the few are ignored, perhaps lost forever.
Over time, physicians and cancer researchers have
learned one lesson again and again: it’s never the same
enemy. Mutations and causative factors vary by cancer
type and patient, and a therapy that works wonders in
one person may be ineffective or worse in another. With
the rise of translational medicine, advances in diagnostic
technologies, and the prospect of rapid and inexpensive

Pharmacy Students Donate Time and Skills
They come from diverse places, with different stories and
varying circumstances, but all who arrive here—at two
churches and two elementary schools—come with the
same shared needs.
The UC San Diego Student-Run Free Clinics provide health,
social, and legal assistance to some two thousand people
a year who are unable to afford or obtain services through
more traditional means.
Ellen Beck, MD, clinical professor of family and preventive
medicine at UC San Diego School of Medicine, founded
the program in 1997. Although she and a team of School
of Medicine faculty members act as advisers, the clinics
are largely run by students from the medical school and
from the Skaggs School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, with help from local doctors, dentists, legal

advisers, social workers, and interpreters—all of whom
volunteer their time and expertise.
The clinics’ good work has served as a model for similar
endeavors at other medical schools. More than 107 faculty
members from educational institutions in thirty states have
visited San Diego to learn the mechanics of creating and operating a student-run free clinic. At last count, there were more
than two dozen similar clinics in operation around the country.
Closer to home, UC San Diego medical students have
started a free clinic in Tijuana, Mexico, in collaboration
with the medical school at the Universidad Autonoma de
Baja California. Farther away, Skaggs students are helping
to launch a free clinic in Awka, Nigeria, by partnering with
Nnamdi Azikiwe University.

Opposite: Chancellor Khosla visits
student-run free clinic in Tijuana, Mexico.
Right: Razelle Kurzrock, MD

genome sequencing for patients, the need to account for
individual variation is becoming paramount.

TRAILBLAZER FOR PERSONALIZED MEDICINE
There are plenty of hurdles in the personalized treatment
approach, such as how to achieve drug approvals if each
patient effectively receives a different treatment. Razelle
Kurzrock, MD, senior deputy director for clinical science
at Moores Cancer Center and director of its Center for
Personalized Cancer Therapy, believes that these obstacles
can and must be overcome.
Before arriving in San Diego in 2012, she developed a
hugely successful Phase 1 clinical trials program at the
University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center that
emphasized targeted, personalized medicine. Next up
for Moores Cancer Center and Kurzrock is to create a
world-class center for clinical trials at UC San Diego.
As a National Cancer Institute-designated Comprehensive Cancer Center, Moores Cancer Center currently

participates in more than
two hundred clinical trials
for novel therapies.

PARTNERSHIP FOR SUCCESS
Crafting a business plan for the UC San Diego Center for
Personalized Therapy was a collaborative effort between
Kurzrock and Prithwish Pal, MBA ’14, a Rady Innovation
Fellow at the UC San Diego Rady School of Management.
For Pal, it was a chance to apply and consolidate his
business knowledge to benefit the local community and
global health care. For Kurzrock, the partnership underscored the powerful link between science and entrepreneurship at UC San Diego. Rady Innovation Fellows are
MBA students who support commercialization of new
technologies and deployment of new initiatives and programs by assisting with technology evaluation, strategic
planning, product development, and business expansion.

UC San Diego Annual Report 2014    31

5th

in the nation in
total research and
development spending
The National Science
Foundation, 2012

The ever-changing nature of the ocean in its wild state, with
variations in temperature, wind, water chemistry, and the
life within it, makes measurements difficult and controlled
experiments nearly impossible. Taking an ocean-in-a-bottle
approach, the CAICE team has created a microcosm of this
dynamic system in the laboratory.

Healing the Planet

The Legacy Lives On

UC San Diego’s roots in climate research,
atmospheric chemistry, and marine science
run deep. It was oceanographer Roger Revelle,
UC San Diego’s founding father, who helped focus
the world’s attention on global warming. The
pioneering work continues—with the launch of
two new multidisciplinary centers in 2013: the
Center for Aerosol Impacts on Climate and the
Environment (CAICE) and the Scripps Center for
Oceans and Human Health.
A five-year, $20 million award from the National
Science Foundation (NSF) supports the CAICE fundamental research and education program on how
interactions between air and sea alter the atmosphere’s chemistry. Led by UC San Diego, the CAICE
effort leverages the expertise of top scientists from
nine universities to explore how particles released
from the ocean influence the environment—from
local water supplies to global climate.
The cross-campus center focuses on one of the largest uncertainties in understanding and modeling
climate: the role of aerosols. Learning more about
how these microscopic substances absorb and
reflect sunlight, seed clouds, and influence precipitation will improve the world’s ability to predict
regional climate and manage water resources.
The CAICE effort has education and outreach
components for creating the next generation of
environmental scientists. These include programs
at K–12 schools throughout San Diego County, an
annual hands-on presentation on the basics of
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aerosols and cloud formation at Birch Aquarium
at Scripps, and a chemistry-climate curriculum
package for fifth and sixth graders with international portability.
Capitalizing on UC San Diego’s unique ability to
address environmental threats to public health,
the new Center for Oceans and Human Health
at Scripps Institution of Oceanography targets
emerging contaminants found naturally in common seafood dishes, and man-made chemicals
that accumulate in human breast milk. Leading
experts in oceanography and medicine are tracking natural chemicals known as halogenated
organic compounds, or HOCs. The team includes
local scientists at Scripps Oceanography’s Center
for Marine Biotechnology and Biomedicine, San
Diego State University’s Graduate School of Public
Health, UC San Diego’s School of Medicine, and the
Salk Institute for Biological Studies.
Human-manufactured varieties of HOCs include
chemicals that until recently were widely used in
commercial products as flame retardants. These
highly toxic chemicals have been linked to various
human diseases, including cancer and thyroid ailments. Less is known about the natural versions of
HOCs that accumulate in marine mammals such as
seals and dolphins and in predators that humans
consume such as tuna and swordfish. There is some
evidence that these compounds may be increasing
in the coastal ocean due to global change, such as
nutrient input from human activity.

Clockwise from top: Geochemist Charles David
Keeling in his lab, 1988; Keeling’s son, Scripps
Oceanography professor Ralph Keeling; Kimberly
Prather, director, Center for Aerosol Impacts on
Climate and the Environment

Like Father,
Like Son
Environmental dangers relentlessly
threaten the planet and its people—and
May 9, 2013, marked an alarming milestone. For the first time since “Keeling
Curve” measurements began in 1958,
the daily mean concentration of carbon
dioxide in the atmosphere of Mauna Loa,
Hawaii, surpassed 400 parts per million
(ppm). Mauna Loa, the oldest continuous carbon dioxide (CO2) measurement
station in the world, is the primary global
benchmark site.
Geochemist Charles David Keeling of
UC San Diego‘s Scripps Institution of
Oceanography, instituted the Keeling
Curve measurement program in 1958
and proved that atmospheric CO2 was
rising dramatically. His son Ralph
Keeling, also a Scripps Oceanography
geochemist, has carried on his father’s
work. Mindful of this scientific legacy,
UC San Diego investigators continue
to tackle environmental challenges of
all kinds.
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SDSC’s success rate in
accepted research proposals
is 45 percent, three times
the national average.

Feeling the Heat
and Fighting Back
Extreme wildfires are an ever-present danger in the
state. For over a decade, the high-speed data transmission
network of the UC San Diego-based High-Performance
Wireless and Research Education Network (HPWREN) has
provided a public safety net for the region. The San Diego
Supercomputer Center (SDSC), an organized research unit
at UC San Diego, and the Qualcomm Institute maintain
backbone nodes on the network, which connect hard-toreach areas in remote environments.
In summer 2013, when firefighters battled the fast-moving, 7,000-acre Chariot Fire near Mount Laguna, east
of San Diego, HPWREN’s camera images and data were
accessed by more than ten thousand people, including
the news media and first responders. The network’s fire
station connections, environmental cameras, and meteorological and other sensors were used early on to assist
firefighters and other emergency personnel.
The WIFIRE CI (cyberinfrastructure) is a logical next
step. The project entails building an end-to-end cyberinfrastructure to perform real-time and data-driven
assessment, simulation, prediction, and visualization of
34

wildfire behavior. The WIFIRE CI will encompass the remote sensor network that is currently part of HPWREN.
Integration of this sensor data into rapidly available
fire image data and models should improve situational
awareness, responses, and decision support at local,
state, national, and international levels.
California is also riddled with geological fault lines. In
2013, a team of researchers at the SDSC and the Department of Electronic and Computer Engineering at the
Jacobs School of Engineering developed a computer code
that drastically cuts research times and energy costs in
simulating seismic hazards.
The accelerated code, which facilitates petaflop-level,
regional earthquake simulations for use in earthquake
engineering and disaster management, is part of a computational effort coordinated by the Southern California
Earthquake Center (SCEC). San Diego State University
(SDSU) is also part of this collaborative program.

Left: Professor Neal Devaraj works with
a student in his lab.
Above: Bubbles that arise from selforganizing membranes form vessels for
the chemistry that is essential to life.

How Did We Get Here?
Inquiring Scientists Want to Know
Creating a living organism from nonliving molecules is
an ambitious—and long-term—scientific goal. Building
an artificial cell from scratch would help to explain life’s
origins—and the basic chemical and biological principles
that are necessary for life. An advanced synthetic cell
could optimize the production of biochemicals that are
useful as drugs or fuels, or that could work in tandem
with biological circuits to create highly efficient sensors.
Hybrid cells are a piece of this complex research puzzle. A multi-institutional team, headed by UC San Diego
chemistry and biochemistry professor Neal Devaraj, is
combining synthetic materials with biological elements
to create hybrid artificial cells that mimic the form and
function of natural cells. Devaraj and his colleagues from
UC San Diego, Harvard University, and the University of
Colorado Boulder hope to gain control of actions within
the cell by replacing organizing elements of the cell with
artificial constructs. Exploring the consequences of these
manipulations could lead to breakthroughs in understanding how to develop and control a wholly synthetic
biological “chassis” capable of interfacing with engineered biological systems.

The collaboration garnered a Multidisciplinary University
Research initiative (MURI) grant from the Department of
Defense (DOD) in 2013. So far, Devaraj has received more
than $7 million in DOD and National Science Foundation
support for his innovative work.
In an earlier noteworthy advance, Devaraj led a team
of UC San Diego and Harvard chemists in producing
self-assembling cell membranes, the structural envelopes
that contain and support the reactions required for life.
The scientists created molecules with a novel chemical
reaction that joins two chains of lipids. Greasy to the
touch and insoluble in water, lipids are key structural
components of plant and animal cells. While nature uses
complex enzymes to join the lipid chains, the Devaraj
team used a simple metal ion.
The real value of this innovation might reside in its
simplicity. Using commercially available materials, the
scientists needed just one preparatory step to create
each starting lipid chain. UC San Diego has filed a patent
application for this discovery.
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Left and opposite: Students in molecular biology
professor Amy Pasquinelli’s lab
This page, center and right: Cholera toxins, fruit fly

Creepy-Crawly Critters

Friend or Foe?

In the world of cutting-edge medical research, roundworms, mice, rats, and fruit flies are star performers.
Model genetic organisms such as the roundworm
C. elegans and the fruit fly Drosophila share many biological properties with humans but are less complicated
genetically, have a short life cycle, are easy to maintain
in a laboratory setting, and lend themselves to detailed
genetic mapping.

A BALM FOR EVERY WOUND
The recent discovery of wound-healing genes in
Drosophila by a team of UC San Diego biologists may
hold clues for treating human skin ailments, such as
psoriasis, eczema, and severe dry skin. Another application might be to build a better bandage—containing
compounds to promote wound healing.
The researchers identified eight genes never before
thought to play a role in wound healing that are called
into action near the areas where wounds occur. Many of
the same genes that regulate biological processes in the
hard exoskeleton, or cuticle, of the fruit fly also control
processes in human skin. The next step is to see whether
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the eight genes identified by the researchers play a comparable role in humans.

COMBATING CHOLERA
The worst cholera epidemic in recent history, which
occurred after the 2010 earthquake in Haiti, killed more
than seventy-nine hundred people and hospitalized hundreds of thousands more. Working with fruit flies, mice,
and cultured human intestinal cells, biologists at UC San
Diego identified an underlying biochemical mechanism
that makes the cholera toxin so deadly. They discovered
that the toxin reduces the delivery of proteins to molecular junctions that normally hold intestinal cells together.
These findings could guide the development of new anticholera therapies.

CHECKING NERVE CELL QUALITY
Horizontal gaze palsy with progressive scoliosis (HGPPS)
affects vision and causes an abnormal curvature of the
spine. People with this condition are unable to move their
eyes from side to side. The disorder is associated with
the defective production of a neuron’s protein guidance

UC San Diego was ranked
the 14th best university in
the world by the Center for
World-Class Universities at
Shanghai Jiao Tong.

receiver, which disrupts the transmission of signals from
the brain to the eye.
Biologists at UC San Diego recently discovered a “quality
check” system for neurons in the laboratory roundworm
C. elegans that uses two proteins to squelch the signals
from defective neurons and marks them for either repair
or destruction. This finding and subsequent research
could provide clues to treatment for HGPPS and other
neurodevelopment disorders.
The quality-check system consists of two parts: a protein
cleaning machine containing the protein EBAX-1, and
a protein assembly helper called heat-shock protein 90
(hsp90). The research team showed that the defective
human protein associated with HGPPS can interact with
EBAX-1 proteins. Further studies are planned to investigate the action of EBAX-1.

APPROPRIATE TECHNOLOGY
While C. elegans is a researcher’s best friend, intestinal
roundworms are a devastating fact of life in the world’s
poorest countries. Developing and delivering expensive
anti-roundworm treatments is not a practical solution.

In 2013, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation
awarded a two-year, $1 million grant to UC San Diego
biology professor Raffi Aroian to explore an alternative
approach. Aroian’s idea is to develop strains of bacteria
possessing a crystalline protein that is toxic to parasitic
roundworms. The bacteria could be easily consumed in
yogurt and soybean dishes.

Biology’s Big Picture
UC San Diego life sciences are seventh best among
top research universities around the world, according
to the 2013 Academic Ranking of World Universities by
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Research teams in the
Division of Biological Sciences continue to make breakthroughs that hold promise for solving some of the
world’s the most perplexing and urgent issues, from
developing new treatements for cancer and diabetes
to removing toxic waste from the environment, from
protecting the world’s food supply to exploring the diseases of aging and the brain, from creating sustainable
biofuels to maintaining the planet’s biodiversity.
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“America’s Best Graduate Schools”
2014, U.S. News Media Group

Nanosponges
to the Rescue
Tiny Warriors Dodge the Immune System
to Deliver Lifesaving Treatments
In the emerging world of nanotechnology, tiny is
beautiful and potentially saves lives. A “nanosponge”
invented by engineers at the UC San Diego Jacobs School
of Engineering can soak up and safely remove a broad
class of dangerous toxins from the bloodstream—
including bacteria such as MRSA and E. coli, and venom
from poisonous snakes and bees. To evade the immune
system and remain in circulation in the bloodstream,
the nanosponges, each about eighty-five nanometers in
diameter, are wrapped in red blood cell membranes.
(A nanometer is one billionth of a meter.)

its pioneering work into approved medical therapies,
with clinical trials as a critical next step.

This novel cloaking technology, which so far has been
studied in mice, can neutralize “pore-forming toxins” that
destroy cells by poking holes in cell membranes. Unlike
other antitoxin platforms that must be custom synthesized for individual toxin types, the nanosponge can
neutralize toxins caused by a wide range of pathogens.

At Research Expo 2013, the grand prize went to Ronnie
Hongbo Fang, a nanoengineering graduate student and
member of the Zhang research team, for his presentation
of the group’s research on nanosponges and his ability to
describe the fundamental discoveries in layman’s terms.
The annual Expo event requires students from the six
academic departments of the Jacobs School to explain
the content of their research to a team of judges from
industry and academia.

This major breakthrough in drug delivery research was
developed in the laboratory of nanoengineering professor
Liangfang Zhang, who holds joint faculty appointments
at the Jacobs School and the UC San Diego Moores Cancer Center. The Zhang research group aims to translate
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In 2013, MIT Technology Review named Zhang to its
annual prestigious “35 Innovators under 35” list. The
youthful winners were cited for their approaches to
solving big problems, exploring new frontiers, and setting
the stage for future innovations.

STUDENT RESEARCHER IN ZHANG GROUP
WINS RESEARCH PRIZE

This page: Professor Liangfang Zhang and
nanosponge display
Right: Prototype for telescopic contact lens

First Nano Grads
UC San Diego launched the nation’s first nanoengineering department in 2007 and an undergraduate
degree program in 2010. In summer 2013, seventeen
seniors earned the university’s first nanoengineering
bachelor’s degree.
More than twenty local and national companies
endorsed the department’s formation within the
Jacobs School, based on their need for multidisciplinary trained engineers with a broad background in
engineering and science, and a focus on the unique
properties of materials whose physical scale is in the
nanometer range.

Corrective Lenses:
New Hope for Macular
Degeneration Patients
A new telescopic contact lens that can switch
between normal and magnified vision by using
slightly modified, off-the-shelf, 3-D television glasses
could ultimately improve vision for individuals suffering from eye disease, including age-related macular
degeneration (AMD). AMD patients typically cannot
read or recognize faces.
An engineering team, led by UC San Diego electrical
engineering professor Joseph Ford, built a prototype of the lens and tested it on a mechanical eye.
Once fine-tuned, the lens should be less invasive
and do a better job of collecting light than the miniature telescopes that can currently be implanted in a
patient’s eyes.
In summer 2013, UC San Diego researchers partnered
with Innovega and Paragon Vision Sciences to conduct human clinical trials on a preliminary version of
the wearable lens. A second trial is planned for 2014.
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From left: Nick Spitzer, Ralph Greenspan, and
Terry Sejnowski, Center for Brain Activity
Mapping (CBAM)

Mindful Research
Exploring Inner Space

In the previous century, astronauts traveled to the
moon to probe the mysteries of outer space. Closer to
home is the present century’s BRAIN Initiative (Brain
Research through Advancing Innovative Neurotechnologies) announced by President Barack Obama in 2013 to
probe the enigma of the active human brain.

of tools to enable recording of neuronal activity throughout the brain, conduct brain-mapping experiments, and
analyze the collected data. The Arthur C. Clarke Center
for Human Imagination will engage the creative worlds
of media, the arts, and literature to better understand the
nature of imagination and develop ways to extend it.

The collaborative initiative aims to advance the science
and technologies needed to map and decipher brain
activity. Charting brain functions in unprecedented detail could lead to new prevention strategies and therapies
for disorders such as Alzheimer’s disease, schizophrenia,
autism, epilepsy, and traumatic brain injury.

Big brain science is a good fit for UC San Diego, where
neuroscience, biology, cognitive science, and nanoengineering are core institutional strengths. Private-sector
financial supporters for the BRAIN Initiative include
the Salk Institute and the Kavli Foundation, which are
longtime UC San Diego partners. CBAM founding director
Ralph Greenspan was among the original architects of a
proposal leading to the BRAIN Initiative. He is also the
associate director of the interdisciplinary Kavli Institute
for Brain and Mind at UC San Diego (KIBM).

UC San Diego recently created two new interdisciplinary
centers to advance the study of the human mind—each
from a different perspective. The Center for Brain
Activity Mapping (CBAM) will develop a new generation
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Rats Sing the
Summertime Blues
In 1986, UC San Diego
established the world's
first cognitive science
department.

Rats, like humans, are prone to seasonal affective disorder or SAD—with this striking difference: excessive
summer light—not wintery darkness—triggers rodent
doom and gloom.
Biologists at UC San Diego have found that rats experience
more anxiety and depression when the days grow longer.
Their brain cells adopt a new chemical code when subjected to large changes in the day and night cycle, flipping a
switch that allows an entirely different neurotransmitter to
stimulate the same part of the brain. This discovery, reported in an April 2013 issue of Science, shows that the adult
mammalian brain is considerably more malleable than was
once thought by neurobiologists. Since rat and human
brains are very similar, these findings provide greater
insight into the behavioral changes in the human brain that
are linked to light.

The Clarke Center on campus continues the legacy
of Sir Arthur C. Clarke by focusing on his greatest
gift: imagination. Celebrated for his multidisciplinary work in science and engineering, he is also
considered one of the most inspiring and engaging
science fiction writers of all time for such classics as
Childhood’s End, Rendezvous with Rama, and 2001:
A Space Odyssey.

The ability of the adult brain to rewire itself suggests
promising new avenues for treating human neurological
disorders such as Parkinson’s disease.

Above: Student researchers in Nick Spitzer lab.
Below: Inaugural event for the Arthur C. Clarke Center for
Human Imagination

In seeking a university to house the new center, the
Clarke Foundation chose UC San Diego for its ability
to provide a practical as well as a theoretical framework to put imagination under a microscope, to find
imagination’s historic limits and go beyond them,
and to promote or restore imagination’s positive use
in education, commerce, science, and social change.
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UC San Diego faculty,
staff, and alumni have
spun off more than
150 local companies.

This page: Wells Fargo Hall at the Rady School
of Management; Ernest Rady

From Lab to Market at Warp Speed

Pushing the Innovation Envelope
Never stop starting up is the catchphrase at UC San
Diego’s Rady School of Management, which kicked off
its yearlong, tenth anniversary celebration in June 2013.
So far, its students have launched over seventy-five
companies that are operational today and developed over
one hundred new products or services within companies.
By focusing on innovation, entrepreneurship, and
collaboration, the school has distinguished itself as a
management-education pioneer. Robert Sullivan, founding dean and chief architect of Rady’s next-generation
MBA program, was named chair of the AACSB International (Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business) board of directors in 2013. He favors a curriculum
that teaches students how to identify scalable ideas that
fill a market need and add economic value.
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StartR, launched by a group of Rady School students as
an independent study project in 2013, is a six-monthlong acceleration program for early-stage companies and
student teams held twice yearly on the Rady campus.
Six teams are selected per program, which emphasizes
hands-on company development and mentorship. At
least one member on each team must be a current Rady
student or alumnus. At the conclusion of the program,
teams have an opportunity to pitch to investors and
industry experts.
In 2013, Rady students, along with four research
teams from UC San Diego and the University of Southern
California, received $180,000 in commercialization
awards as part of the Southern California Clean Energy
Technology Acceleration Program funded by the

Duane J. Roth

1949–2013

With the untimely death of Duane J. Roth in
August 2013, UC San Diego and the broader
San Diego community lost a visionary leader,
biotech entrepreneur, and tireless champion for the region’s growth and prosperity.
Roth, sixty-three, died of injuries sustained
in a bicycling accident in preparation for a
charity race.
Prior to his passing, he was chief executive officer of CONNECT; vice chairman of
the California Institute for Regenerative
Medicine (CIRM), California’s stem cell
agency; and incoming chairman of the board for
the Sanford-Burnham Medical Research Institute.
Roth founded Alliance Pharmaceutical Corp. and was
a senior executive at Johnson & Johnson and Wyeth
before he took over as CEO of CONNECT in 2004.

Duane J. Roth

CONNECT, which links regional inventors and
entrepreneurs with the resources they need for
commercialization of innovative products, was
originally founded in 1985 as a part of UC San Diego.
Since that time, the organization has assisted in the
formation and development of more than three
thousand companies.

Department of Energy. The teams were guided by a technology and business adviser from the von Liebig
Entrepreneurism Center at UC San Diego’s Jacobs School
of Engineering in conducting market feasibility studies
and prototype development. The program was designed
to accelerate the commercialization of innovative
clean-energy technologies developed at research institutions in the region.
Rady is one of several campus nodes on the “Innovation
Network” or “iNetwork,” a campuswide initiative currently under development at UC San Diego. Proposed network tools include proof-of-concept funds, incubators,
entrepreneur-mentors, and an enhanced research portal.
The network delivers entrepreneurship training, student

involvement, business development, licensing strategies,
funding opportunities, and connections to alumni.
iNetwork is the brainchild of the new Division of Innovation and Industry Alliances (DI2A), established by the
Office of Research Affairs in 2012. To develop the network, DI2A is partnering with the Rady School, Alumni
and Constituent Engagement, the Office of Research
Affairs, UC San Diego Extension, and other stakeholders
across campus.
DI2A provides university innovators and industrial partners with advice and resources to forge mutually productive partnerships. Its mission is to build a campuswide
culture of entrepreneurism and position UC San Diego as
a premier center for discovery, innovation, and lab-tomarket success.
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100

undergraduate majors
and graduate programs
are offered by the Division
of Arts and Humanities

SUPERSTARS
Arts faculty include winners of the
Pulitzer Prize and the Tony Award.

Engaging
Arts

Unleashing Creativity by
Breaking Down Walls

At UC San Diego, the arts sustain a diverse community
by taking people to places—real and imagined—that
they have never been before. In 2013, the inaugural
WoW (Without Walls) festival blurred the boundaries
between audience and actor, the Qualcomm Institute
appointed a new composer in residence, and Preuss UCSD
students had a behind-the-scenes look at the university’s
arts programs.

WOWING AUDIENCES
The WoW festival, which brought immersive and
site-specific theatre to San Diego, was a partnership of
the La Jolla Playhouse with UC San Diego, the Museum of
Contemporary Art San Diego, and the New Children’s
Museum. Featuring new works by university arts graduate students alongside projects by prominent local,
national, and international artists, Wow is on target to
become a biennial event.
Instead of conventional performance venues, several
events took place in nontraditional locales, such as La
Jolla Shores beach, the Fallen Star sculpture atop the
Jacobs School of Engineering, and an elevator in Potiker
Theatre. Several UC San Diego faculty, students, and
alumni participated in a reimagining of Thonrton Wilder’s classic Our Town, directed by Tom Dugdale, MFA ’10.
The new WoW version, in which a group of twenty-somethings invites the audience over for a party under the
stars, included live, original music and an
unlimited flow of free soda pop.
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COMPOSING THE FUTURE
While the WoW festival is all about theatre without walls,
the Qualcomm Institute is all about breaking down walls
between academic disciplines. As the institute’s composer
in residence, Department of Music associate professor
Lei Liang hopes to find new ways—both technically and
artistically—of bringing past sensibilities to modern
audiences. During his three-year appointment, he will
collaborate with scientists and engineers on creating
databases and multimedia software tools to explore and
safeguard recordings, and compose works to showcase
these cutting-edge, digital technologies.

OPENING DOORS
Education is as much about the world as it is about the
classroom. That world became considerably larger for
Preuss students with the introduction of a Division of
Arts and Humanities program consisting of tours, conversations with artists, internships, and free tickets to
UC San Diego concerts and plays. Prior to this outreach
effort, some of the students had never seen a theatrical
performance, musical concert, art exhibit, or creative
reading before. Located on the UC San Diego campus,
Preuss is a charter middle and high school for low-income, highly motivated students who strive to become
the first in their families to graduate from college.

This page, from top: Preuss students chat with graduate students
from the Department of Theatre and Dance as part of an immersion
program to introduce Preuss students to the rich arts programs on
campus; Qualcomm Institute’s composer in residence Lei Liang
Opposite and below: Performers at the inaugural
WoW (Without Walls) festival
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in the nation for number of
students who study abroad
Institute of International Education
Open Doors 2013 report

Global Connections Online and in Person
Great universities constantly search for solutions to
fundamental global challenges. Within the social sciences, investigators are moving away from the abstract
theorizing that previously dominated scholarship toward
a hands-on approach involving field experimentation and
interdisciplinary problem solving. UC San Diego is at the
forefront of this movement.
A groundbreaking policy research lab, launched at
UC San Diego in 2013, combines advanced social science
methods with the power of information technology to
develop policies and programs that alleviate poverty;
promote health, welfare, and security; and enhance
accountability. The multidisciplinary Policy Design and
Evaluation Lab (PDEL), located at the School of International Relations and Pacific Studies (IR/PS), is headed by
faculty from IR/PS and the Division of Social Sciences.
A $1.5 million US Agency for International Development
grant awarded to PDEL is earmarked for developing
information and communication technology solutions to
societal problems. The research lab deploys UC San
Diego's unique collection of intellectual talents in applied
social science, information and communication technology, health sciences, and environmental sciences, as well
as the collaborative strengths of other institutions to
combat global poverty. Faculty and students from seven
US and foreign research universities, including UC San
Diego and UC Berkeley, are pooling their ingenuity.
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The lab has created a comprehensive research program to
improve delivery of basic services. In Kenya, for example,
a multidisciplinary PDEL team utilized mobile phones to
monitor election fraud in the March 2013 election.
Connecting people who are disconnected is the goal of
KA Lite, a free web app developed by UC San Diego social
sciences students. Project volunteers aim to bring free
online education to the 65 percent of the world that currently lacks Internet access.
Participating students have made online videos and exercises of the Khan Academy available offline, established
the nonprofit Foundation for Learning Equality, and plan
to provide additional educational content.
Connection is also the focus of VirBELA, a business
simulation platform that garnered start-up funding from
the Graduate Management Admission Council (GMAC).
Housed at the Rady School of Management, VirBELA is a
3-D virtual world created to increase international collaboration among business students and empower them to
work on multinational teams. Rady launched VirBELA in
2013 with a Global Business Simulation Competition and
a $50,000 prize for the winning team. GMAC’s $7.1 million
implementation award went to VirBELA in collaboration
with the Rady School and Rembisz & Associates.

This page, clockwise from top: Balloon-based aerial camera system
flies over archaeological dig site in southern Jordan; Qualcomm
Institute research scientist Albert Yu-Min Lin; archaeology professor
Tom Levy, middle, with graduate students and a Total station used
to survey an area of southern Jordan prior to excavation
Opposite: KA Lite team.

Digital Archaeology and
Crowdsourcing Research

Worldwide

Cyberarchaeology—the marriage of computer science,
engineering, and archaeology—is the future of the
past. For UC San Diego archaeologist Thomas E. Levy
and research scientist Albert Yu-Min Lin, the tools of the
trade include crowdsourcing, multispectral imaging, and
data-sharing workflows. At the Qualcomm Institute’s
Center of Interdisciplinary Science for Art, Architecture
and Archaeology (CISA3), they are exploring methodologies for art conservation and cultural heritage research,
while training a new generation of interdisciplinary
experts to work in the emerging cyberarchaeology field.

Lin is a three-time alumnus of UC San Diego’s Jacob
School of Engineering in electrical engineering (BS ’04,
MS ’05) and materials science (PhD ’08). He used crowdsourcing that involved local people in an effort to solve
an eight hundred-year-old mystery—the whereabouts
of Genghis Khan’s lost tomb. By logging onto a customized Internet portal, users could join Lin’s expedition in
real time. The National Geographic-supported project,
launched in 2010, emphasized searching for culturalheritage sites while maintaining respect for local customs
and beliefs.

In academic year 2012–13, Levy took his research style on
the road, generating worldwide interest in digital cyberarchaeology. His whirlwind research season included a
trip to Petra in Jordan, where he and his team deployed a
helium balloon platform to create high-definition imagery of the ancient Temple of Winged Lions. The American
Center of Oriental Research (ACOR) recruited Levy for
the conservation project, or what he refers to as “rescue
archaeology.” The massive data the team collected in a
short amount of time will be available through ACOR at
no charge to researchers from multiple nations.

In 2013, Lin, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), and TopCoder, the world’s largest
platform for digital open innovation, a competitive
community of digital creators, challenged programmers
worldwide to develop a machine-learning algorithm
that would match human perception when picking out
interesting features in satellite imagery used in Lin's
search for the lost burial site. Once developed, the algorithm could integrate machines and crowds to accelerate
discovery in a wide array of big data problems, ranging
from planetary to medical imaging exploration.
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The Preuss School UCSD
is the top transformative
high school in the nation.
Newsweek, 2013

Learning

The Long and
the Short of It

California’s 175-day school year is one of the nation’s
shortest. The Preuss School UCSD, with 198 days and
74,669 instructional minutes per year, is a poster child
for more and better learning time.
Preuss allots some of that time to art, music, and physical education—activities that are increasingly cut from
other schools. Yet studies suggest that these noncore subjects improve students’ educational experience and may
lead to greater academic achievement.
Students in high-poverty schools with at least 25 percent
more time outperform their peers in schools with less
time, according to the Time to Succeed Coalition (TSC),
a national advocacy group. The chorus is growing
louder, as more than a thousand schools have added
hours to help students succeed academically, deliver a
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well-rounded education, and facilitate teacher collaboration and professional development.
Preuss was ahead of the curve. Located on the UC San
Diego campus, Preuss is a charter middle and high
school for low-income, highly motivated students. Its
graduates are consistently accepted to four-year
colleges and universities at a rate of nearly 95 percent,
and almost 100 percent go on to some form of higher education. Preuss has been named the nation’s top “miracle
high school” by Newsweek magazine, and received the
number-one spot in the magazine’s list of “transformative schools” for the third consecutive year in 2013.
Preuss was also included in a report on California’s top
charter schools released by the University of Southern
California’s Center on Educational Governance.

Opposite: Preuss students attend the first day of
school, 2013.
This page, from top: Rex Pickett ’76; Pickett as a
film student and his mentor, visual arts professor
Manny Farber

Sideways

to the Future

UC San Diego alumnus Rex Pickett ’76, author of
Sideways, the best-selling novel about the exploits
of two old college buddies on a wine-enriched road
trip, donated his personal papers to the UC San Diego
Library’s Mandeville Special Collections in 2013.
The archive includes letters, photographs, and other
memorabilia from the novel and the wildly popular
movie it spawned.

Library Launches TV Channel
Author Jay Parini discusses thirteen books that
changed America. UC San Diego psychiatrist Joel
Dimsdale presents his findings on the Rorschach tests
administered to Nazi leaders. UC San Diego political
scientist Steve Erie talks about San Diego’s leadership
challenges and missteps.
All this video content and more is available on the UC
San Diego Library’s own television channel, launched
in 2013 on UCTV, the University of California’s
award-winning TV station. Programming is accessible
from a portal on the library’s home page, from UCTV’s
home page, on UCTV, and on iTunes and YouTube.
As the intellectual heart of the UC San Diego campus,
the UC San Diego Library serves the knowledge and
information needs of faculty, students, and the general
public. With its small-screen presence, the library now
has another powerful outlet for sharing its valuable
collections and intellectual heft with the world at large.

The Sideways movie, which garnered an Academy
Award for best screenplay, is also the basis for
Sideways the play, a collaboration between Pickett and
Tony Award-winning director Des McAnuff. In summer
2013, the play was staged at the La Jolla Playhouse.
Pickett, a summa cum laude graduate, studied film
with the late Manny Farber, a film critic, painter, and
visual arts professor at UC San Diego. The Rex Pickett
Papers chronicle the writer’s ups and downs as a
novelist and as a screenwriter for movies and TV.
The Mandeville Special Collections is the repository
for the archives of numerous prominent writers, artists, scientists, and poets, ranging from the Dr. Seuss
Collection to the archives of Nobel Laureates like
Harold Urey, Hannes Alfven, and Maria Goeppert
Mayer. The library’s Archive for New Poetry is recognized as one of the most comprehensive collections of
American poetry in the nation.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
The objective of Management’s Discussion and Analysis is to
help readers of the University of California, San Diego’s financial
statements better understand the financial position and operating activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, with selected comparative information for the year ended June 30, 2012. UC
San Diego’s financial report communicates financial information
for the university through three primary financial statements.
The statement of net position; the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and the statement of cash
flows present the financial position, changes in financial position, and cash flows for the university. The financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the management’s discussion
and the notes to the financial statements to gain a more complete understanding of the university’s financial information.
The financial statements of the San Diego campus are subject
to limited-scope procedures as part of the annual audit of the
financial statements of the entire University of California. The
audited, consolidated financial statements of the University of
California are available at http://www.ucop.edu/financialaccounting/financial-reports/annual-financial-reports.html.

The University’s Financial Position
The statement of net position presents the financial position of
the university at the end of each fiscal year. At June 30, 2013, the
university’s net position was $3.07 billion, with assets of $5.63
billion and liabilities of $2.56 billion. The major components of
the assets, liabilities, and net position as of 2013 and 2012 are
as follows (in thousands).
			

2013			

2012			 CHANGE

ASSETS
Cash and equity in
treasurer’s investments
$ 1,561,527		 $ 1,370,486
$ 191,041
Receivables		 453,260 		 462,651
(9,391)
Inventories		
28,310			
27,849			
461
Capital assets, net		 3,480,376			 3,305,325			 175,051
Other assets		 107,191			 107,339			
(148)
Total assets

$ 5,630,664		

$5,273,650

$

357,014

LIABILITIES
Debt
$ 1,734,465		 $ 1,791,047		
$ (56,582)
Other liabilities		 828,428			 692,353			 136,078
Total liabilities

$ 2,562,893		 $2,483,400		

$

79,496

NET POSITION
Reserved for minority
interests
$ 46,654		 $ 46,875		 $
(221)
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt 		 1,745,545			 1,513,911			 231,634
Restricted
Expendable		 113,953 		 147,068			 (33,115)
Unrestricted		 1,161,619 		 1,082,396			
79,223
Total net position
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$ 3,067,771		 $ 2,790,250		

$

277,521

UC San Diego’s total assets increased by $357.01 million to $5.63
billion in 2013, compared to $5.27 billion in 2012. The primary
reasons are noted below.
Cash and equity in treasurer’s investments—The university’s
cash and equity in treasurer’s investments totaled $1.56 billion
at the end of 2013 and $1.37 billion at the end of 2012. The
increase in the short-term investments component of $190.07
million is primarily due to cash from operations and investing
exceeding cash used for operations and capital investments.
Accounts receivable, net—Accounts receivable in total decreased by $9.39 million to $453.26 million in 2013 from $462.65
million in 2012. The principal decrease is in the State and Federal Government category, where receivables from these two areas
decreased by $11.07 million, reflecting the lower level of Federal
Grant and Contract activity in the fiscal period. The decrease in
the State category reflected a decrease in state capital appropriations due to the number of capital projects completed in the fiscal period. There was a slight offset of $1.77 million, in the other
category resulting from an increase in student tuition and fees.
Capital assets, net—Investments in capital assets continue to
increase in order to provide the facilities necessary to support
UC San Diego’s teaching, research, and public service mission
and for patient care. These facilities include core academic
buildings, libraries, student services, housing and auxiliary
enterprises, health science centers, utility plants and infrastructure. Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, increased
by $175.05 million to $3.48 billion in 2013. The increase reflects
new structures capitalized in the current year (UC San Diego
Medical Center—East Campus Bed Tower $119 million, Health
Sciences Biomedical Research Facility—Phase 2 $50 million,
Clinical and Translational Research Institute $15 million).
Projects under construction include the Jacobs Medical Center
facility, and additions to the Medical Center’s parking structure.
Investments—Investments classified as current assets are
generally fixed or variable income securities in the Short-Term
Investment Pool (STIP) and Total Return Investment Pool (TRIP)
with a maturity date within one year. Noncurrent investments
include securities in the General Endowment Pool (GEP) or other
pools, in addition to fixed or variable income securities in STIP
and TRIP with a maturity date beyond one year. The TRIP investment pool, established in 2009, is managed to a total return
objective and is intended to supplement STIP. The financial markets, both domestically and internationally, have been volatile in
recent times and this has affected the valuation of investments.
The Board of Regents utilizes asset allocation strategies that are
intended to optimize investment returns over time in accordance
with their investment objectives, while maintaining an acceptable level of risk. The GEP portfolio return was a positive return
of 12 percent in 2013 and a negative return of 0.7 percent in
2012. TRIP had positive returns of 8.3 percent in 2013 and 6.7
percent in 2012. STIP had positive returns of 2.1 percent and 2.4
percent in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The University’s Liabilities
The university’s liabilities totaled $2.56 billion in 2013, an
increase of 3.2 percent over 2012. This total includes liabilities
of $1.41 billion for capital projects accounted for centrally at

the UC Office of the President (UCOP). These liabilities provide
financing for projects on more than one campus.
Debt—Capital assets are financed from a variety of sources,
including university equity contributions, federal and state
support, revenue bonds, bank loans, leases, or structures that
involve separate legal entities. Total debt decreased by $56.58
million to $1.73 billion in 2013. The major decrease in 2013 was
for several revenue bonds totaling $396.06 million for several
building construction projects.
Other liabilities—Other liabilities increased by $136.08 million
to $828.43 million in 2013 from $692.35 million in 2012. This
increase is principally the result of accrued salaries $65.73
million that is timing related, accounts payable $36.16 million
(increased purchasing activity, coupled with inflation related
price increases), and deferred revenue of $35.03, primarily for
the Summer Session that begins in July.

The University’s Net Position
Net position represents the residual interest in the university’s
assets after all liabilities are deducted. Net position is reported
in four major categories: reserved for minority interests; invested in capital assets, net of related debt; restricted expendable;
and unrestricted. The university’s net position grew by $277.52
million to $3.07 billion in 2013. For the period ended June 30,
2013, under GASB 14 guidelines, the inclusion of the Sanford
Consortium for Regenerative Medicine contributed $60.77 million to third-party debt.
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt—The portion
of net position invested in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and the related outstanding debt used to finance the
acquisition, construction, or improvement of these capital assets
is $1.75 billion in 2013, compared to $1.51 billion in 2012. The
increase represents the university’s continued investment in its
physical facilities. Principal projects financed and capitalized in
2013 included the UC San Diego Medical Center—East Campus
Bed Tower $119 million, Health Sciences Biomed Research Facility—Phase 2 $50 million, Clinical and Translational Research
institute $15 million.

Restricted expendable—Restricted, expendable net position is
subject to externally imposed restrictions governing their use.
Net position may be spent only in accordance with the restrictions placed upon them and may include endowment income
and gains, subject to the university’s spending policy; support
received from gifts, state appropriations, or capital projects;
or other third-party receipts. In 2013, the decrease of $33.12
million in restricted, expendable funds principally reflects a
decrease of $23.83 million in capital projects, related to reduced
construction activity in the current period.
Unrestricted—Under generally accepted accounting principles,
net position that is not subject to externally imposed restrictions governing its use must be classified as unrestricted for
financial reporting purposes. Although unrestricted net position
is not subject to externally imposed restrictions, substantially
all of the net position is allocated for academic research and
health-care initiatives or programs, for capital purposes, and
for other purposes. Unrestricted net position increased $79.22
million to $1.16 billion in 2013. The increase primarily reflects
an increase in the Medical Center’s reserves.

The University’s Results of Operations
The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position is a presentation of the university’s operating results.
It indicates whether the financial condition has improved or
deteriorated in the current fiscal year. In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) requirements,
certain significant revenues relied upon and budgeted for fundamental operational support of the core instructional mission
of the university are required to be recorded as nonoperating
revenues, including state educational appropriations, private
gifts, and investment income.

Revenues Supporting Core Activities
Revenues to support the university’s core activities, including
those classified as nonoperating revenues, were $3.56 billion
and $3.42 billion in 2013 and 2012, respectively. This diversified
source of revenue increased by $142.33 million in 2013. Student

University Net Position
Noncurrent
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$5,000

$4,880
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tuition and fees, in conjunction with State of California educational appropriations, are the core components that support the
instructional mission of the university. Grants and contracts
provide opportunities for undergraduate and graduate students
to participate in basic research alongside some of the most
prominent researchers in the country. Gifts to the university
allow crucial flexibility for support of its fundamental activities
or new academic initiatives. Sales and service revenues are from
the Medical Center; the Medical Group; and auxiliary enterprises such as student housing, food service operations, parking,
and the UC San Diego Bookstore.

contract revenue may be reflected in the current fiscal year or in
future periods as work is completed and billed.

A major financial strength of UC San Diego is its diverse source
of revenues, including those from the State of California, student
fees, sponsored grants and contracts, medical centers, private
support, and self-supporting enterprises. The variety of fund
sources has become increasingly important over the past several
years given the effects of the state’s financial crisis that required
reductions in both instructional and noninstructional programs.

Sales and Services net—represents revenue from UC San Diego
Health Systems, educational activities, and auxiliary enterprises.

The following chart displays the categories of both operating and
nonoperating revenues that support core activities as of June 2013:
Private Gifts

Other Revenues

2%

3%

Federal Pell Grants

Auxiliary Enterprises

1%

4%

Investment Income

State Educational
Appropriations

1%

7%
Educational
Activities
11%
Student Tuition
and Fees
12%

2013 TOTAL
REVENUES
$3,558,712

Medical Center

2013			

2012

General campus				 $ 283,116		 $
Health Sciences					 547,604			
Scripps Institution
of Oceanography					 154,203			

293,769
559,104

CAMPUS AREA

				

Total				 $ 984,923		

157,351

$ 1,010,224

SALES AND SERVICES (in millions)
			

2013			

UC San Diego Health System $ 1,042		
Educational activities		
372		
Auxiliary enterprises net		
153		
Total

$ 1,567		

2012			 CHANGE
$

960		
312		
136		

$ 1,408

$

82
60
17

$

159

Medical Center—Revenues of $1.13 billion in 2013 reflect an increase of $91.72 million from 2012. Net patient service revenue of
$1.09 billion for 2013 increased by $91.72 million over 2012. The
increase in 2013 over 2012 in this category was due to patient
volumes, contract price increases, and improved collections. Net
patient service revenue is reported net of estimated allowances
under contractual arrangements with Medicare, Medi-Cal, and
the County of San Diego, as well as other third-party payers,
and has been estimated based upon the principles of reimbursements, and terms of the contracts currently in effect.

32%
Grants and
Contracts
27%

Student tuition and fees, net—Student enrollment decreased
1 percent on a year-over-year basis with enrolled students of
29,052 and 29,324 in the fall of 2012 and 2011 respectively. Net
student tuition and fees were $414.53 million and $388.52 million in 2013 and 2012, respectively. Student tuition and fees, net
of scholarship allowances, increased by $26.0 million and $38.07
million in 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increases in student
tuition and fees revenue in the current period reflected the goal
of the university to increase the proportion of foreign and out of
state students as most tuition and fees remained unchanged in
the period. Consistent with past practices, approximately onethird of the revenue generated from these fee increases was used
for financial aid to mitigate the impact on low-income students.
Grants and contracts—Revenues from grants and contracts
decreased $25.85 million in 2013 to $960.95 million. This revenue represents support from a variety of federal, state, private,
and local agencies, with funding from the federal government
and private corporations being the major contributors. The decrease in 2013 reflected a $19.25 million decrease in the State of
California category, coupled with a $8.68 million decrease from
federal contracts and grants in the period.
The following table details awarded grants and contracts for
fiscal year 2013 and 2012 (in thousands). Awarded grants and

52

NEW AWARDS RECEIVED (in thousands)

Sales and services, educational activities—Revenues from educational activities increased by $30.11 million to $402.23 million in 2013 compared to $372.12 million in 2012. The increase in
this category reflects the Medical Group’s activities. A one-time
increase of $19.5 million resulted from the transfer of three
ambulatory care pharmacies from the Medical Center to the
Medical Group. Hospital Patient revenues associated with the
Medical Group increased by $13 million, reflective of increased
clinical volumes and an improved collection process. The affiliation with Rady Children’s Hospital contributed $4.7 million.
State educational appropriations—Educational appropriations from the State of California increased by $27.07 million to
$252.47 million in 2013. While the state’s fiscal crisis continued
into 2013 there was improvement over 2012 as a result of tax
initiatives approved by the voters of California in November
2012. These initiatives resulted in an overall increase to state
funding by the legislature and the governor for higher education. State resources for enrollment growth, faculty and
staff increases, and other inflationary cost increases were not
available in the period, leading to increases in student class
sizes, and a planned increase in the proportion of foreign and
out-of-state students.

Private Gifts
Private gifts revenue, which is considered nonoperating revenue,
either comes directly from the donor or is held by the UC San
Diego Foundation until transferred to the campus for use.
These funds generally are restricted to uses designated by the
donor. In 2013 this category decreased by $14.54 million to

$53.79 million. While no single gift accounts for the decrease,
and fundraising is still a priority, the revenue is somewhat unpredictable in nature. While there were many gifts and bequests
received for a wide variety of new as well as existing campus
purposes in 2013, overall gifts to the Regents decreased.

Expenses Associated with Core Activities
Expenses associated with the university’s core activities, including those classified as nonoperational expenses, increased by
$195.43 million, from $3.32 billion to $3.51 billion in 2013.
The following chart displays the categories of both operating
and nonoperating expenses that support core activities as of
June 2013:
Scholarships
and Fellowships

Interest Expense
2%

2%

Building Maintenance

Utilities

5%

Salaries and
Wages

7%

10%

2013 TOTAL
EXPENSES
$3,505,009

46%

Supplies
and Materials
13%

Supplies and materials—These expenses increased by
$39.44 million or 9.8 percent during 2013, primarily due to
increased purchasing activity by the Medical Center, reflecting
a full year of operation by the new Sulpizio Cardiovascular
Center, and increased patient volumes.
Other operating expenses—Other operating expenses consist
of a variety of expense categories, including travel, rent, insurance, legal settlements, and repairs and maintenance. Expenses
in this category were $512.83 million in 2013, or an increase of
$49.40 million over 2012. The key contributor was funding for
the Office of the President by the campus, an increase in 2013 of
$40.53 million primarily related to a multiyear project to replace
the university’s payroll system.

1%

Depreciation and
Amortization

Other Expenses

$160.64 million in 2012. Scholarship allowances are reported as
an offset to revenue, not as an operating expense. On a combined
basis, as the university continues its commitment to provide
financial support for low-income students. The university’s
financial aid, in all forms, grew to $238.45 million in 2013 from
$234.73 million in 2012, an increase of 1.57 percent.

Benefits
14%

Salaries and wages—More than 47 percent of the university’s
expenses are related to salaries and wages and cover 28,672
employees, a 1 percent increase over prior years. During 2013,
salaries and wages increased by $54.97 million. This increase
reflected programmed faculty merits, necessary new hiring, and
union contract wage implementations.
Benefits—These costs comprise 14 percent of the university’s
expenses, and increased by $39.47 million to $494.57 million
in 2013, principally due to a 3 percent increase in the employer
contribution to the UC Retirement Plan (UCRP). Beginning in May
2010 and for subsequent years, the employer and employee contributions to UCRP have been set to incrementally increase as a
percent of covered salary and wages. Prior to 2010, either no contribution or a limited contribution was made to UCRP, resulting in
the current under-funded position. The current period 43 percent
increase resulted in a $36.36 million increase in 2013 over 2012.
Utilities—In the 2013 period, utility expenses were $43.28 million, a decrease of $2.16 million from fiscal year 2012, primarily
as a result of ongoing energy-saving steps taken by the university, despite the added facilities that came online in the period.
Scholarships and fellowships—The university places a high
priority on student financial aid as a part of a commitment to
affordability. Scholarships and fellowships, representing payments for financial aid made directly to students, are reported
as an operating expense and totaled $77.07 million, an increase
of $2.97 million over 2012. However, scholarship allowances,
representing financial aid and fee waivers awarded by the
university, also forms of scholarship and fellowship costs, increased by $.75 million to $161.38 million in 2013 as opposed to

Other nonoperating activities—UC San Diego’s other nonoperating activities are noncash transactions and are therefore
not available to be used to support operating expenses. They
include any gain or loss on disposals of capital assets and other
nonoperating expenses. In 2013 UC San Diego realized a loss on
the disposal of capital assets net of $5.84 million, a 69 percent
decrease from 2012.

Other Changes in Net Position
Similar to other nonoperating activities discussed above, these
amounts are also not available to support the university’s operating expenses in the current year. State capital appropriations
and capital gifts and grants may only be used for the purchase
or construction of the specified capital assets. Only income
earned from gifts of permanent endowments is available in
future years to support the specified program.
In accordance with GASB reporting standards, operating losses
were $293.16 million in 2013 and 221.13 million in 2012. These
operating losses were more than offset by net revenues and expenses that are required by GASB to be classified as nonoperating,
but which remain available to support operating activities of the
university: $341.02 million in 2013 and $322.10 million in 2012.
This income is restricted by either legal or fiduciary obligations,
allocated for academic and research initiatives or programs, necessary for debt service, or required for capital purposes.

The University’s Cash Flows
In 2013, there was a net cash inflow from operating activities
of $63.63 million, which is coupled with a net cash inflow of
$365.31 million that was provided by noncapital financing activities. By comparison, in 2012 the net cash outflow from operating activities was $153.29 million, with $353.10 million of cash
inflow provided by noncapital financing activities.
The net cash outflow from capital and related financing activities was $386.70 million in 2013 and $422.80 million in 2012.
The primary uses of cash were payments to employees, suppliers, utilities, and capital asset purchases. Cash sources include
grants and contracts, receipts from the Medical Center, and
student tuition.
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STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (UNAUDITED)
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2013, and June 30, 2012 (in thousands)

CAMPUS
			

2013

FOUNDATION
2012

2013

2012

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and equity in treasurer’s investments
$   1,562,617
$   1,371,081
$      1,000
Investments held by trustees
(1,090)
(595)
103,287
Accounts receivable, net 				
State and federal government
66,637
77,704
—
Medical Center
256,730
256,820
—
Other
129,893
128,127
37
Pledges receivable, net
1,095
3,576
18,818
Notes receivable, net
3,746
3,547
470
Inventories
28,310
27,849
—
Other current assets
29,574
28,339
—
Total current assets
2,077,512
1,896,448
123,612
Noncurrent Assets 				
Investments and investments held by trustees
15,728
16,672
474,744
Pledges and notes receivable
650
3,062
63,125
Notes and mortgages
35,895
34,982
—
Land, buildings, equipment, libraries, and special collections
6,260,419
5,932,943
—
Less: Accumulated depreciation
(2,780,043)
(2,627,618)
—
Other noncurrent assets
20,503
17,161
563
Total noncurrent assets
3,553,152
3,377,202
538,432
Total assets
$ 5,630,664
$   5,273,650
$   662,044

$      3,094
78,307
—
—
45
23,531
—
—
259
105,236
423,657
73,819
—
—
—
848
498,324
$   603,560

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries and benefits
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term debt
Funds held for others
Annuities payable
Liabilities to life beneficiaries
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Federal refundable loans
Annuities payable
Liabilities to life beneficiaries
Long-term debt
Revenue bonds
Mortgages and other borrowings
Capital lease obligations
Third-party debt
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

$    181,957
170,365
166,557
61,809
2,331
—
—
221,202
804,221

$

  145,800
88,818
131,527
66,449
2,106
—
—
227,442
662,142

$       920
—
—
—
47
834
1,300
—
3,101

$     780
—
—
—
126
923
1,327
—
3,156

28,242
—
—

27,957
—
—

—
6,030
7,736

—
6,348
7,771

1,216,481
158,885
223,841
73,446
57,777
1,758,672
$ 2,562,893

1,288,763
118,050
242,998
74,787
68,703
1,821,258
$ 2,483,400

—
—
—
—
562
14,328
$     17,429

—
—
—
—
—
14,119
$    17,275

$     46,654
1,745,545

$     46,875
$         —
$         —
1,513,911 	      —	         —

NET POSITION
Reserved for minority interests
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted
Nonexpendable
Endowments
Annuity and life income funds
Expendable
Endowments
Endowment income
Annuity and life income funds
Funds functioning as endowments
Loans
Gifts
Capital projects
Debt service
Appropriations
Unrestricted
Total net position

—
—

—
—

312,617
5,061

289,882
5,354

—
10,373
—
—
4,102
85,002
11,136
2,809
531
1,161,619
$ 3,067,771

—
11,103
—
—
4,070
92,746
34,968
4,123
58
1,082,396
$  2,790,250

111,664
—
6,763
35,753
—
169,385
—
—
—
3,372
$   644,615

89,995
—
7,199
10,406
—
178,468
—
—
—
4,981
$   586,285

Financial statements for the University of California, San Diego are unaudited. Financial statements for the UC San Diego Foundation are audited.
Financial statements for the University of California, San Diego contain selected GASB 14 entities.
The financial statements of the San Diego campus are subject to limited-scope procedures as part of the annual audit of the financial statements of the
entire University of California.
See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements.
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION (UNAUDITED)
For fhe Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2013, and June 30, 2012 (in thousands)

CAMPUS
			

2013

FOUNDATION
2012

2013

2012

Student tuition and fees, net
$    414,526
$    388,522
$       —
Grants and contracts 				
Federal
690,218
698,895
—
State
44,444
63,691
—
Private
215,758
211,622
—
Local
10,533
12,599
—
Sales and services
Medical Center
1,133,397
1,041,675
—
Educational activities
402,229
372,119
—
Auxiliary enterprises, net
157,233
152,875
—
Contributions revenue
—
—
47,976
Other operating revenues, net
64,875
57,379
—
Total operating revenues
3,133,213
2,999,377
47,976

$       —

OPERATING REVENUES
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
35,117
—
35,117

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages
Benefits
Scholarships and fellowships
Utilities
Supplies and materials
Depreciation and amortization
Grants to campus2
Other operating expenses
Building maintenance
Travel
Telecommunications
Other 2
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

1,624,680
494,574
77,065
43,282
441,303
232,636
—

1,569,706
455,101
74,093
45,439
401,852
210,886
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
68,307

—
—
—
—
—
—
61,158

178,973
38,065
34,362
261,428
3,426,368
(293,155)

158,519
37,580
32,216
235,117
3,220,509
(221,132)

—
—
—
59
68,366
(20,390)

—
—
—
89
61,247
(26,130)

252,469
22,414
7,144
43,945
53,791
40,189
—
—
(78,641)
—
(5,839)
5,547
341,019
47,864

225,404
20,860
7,343
49,727
68,333
37,242
—
—
(75,899)
—
(19,007)
8,099
322,102
100,970

—
—
—
—
—
6,639
1,608
40,731
—
(729)
—
—
48,249
27,859

—
—
—
—
—
7,577
76
(8,269)
—
95
—
—
(521)
(26,651)

—
—
30,471
—
30,471
58,330

—
—
10,660
—
10,660
(15,991)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
State educational appropriations
State financing appropriations
Federal financing appropriations
Federal Pell Grants
Private gifts
Investment income
Realized gain on sale of investments
Unrealized appreciation/depreciation on investments
Interest expense1
Change in value of annuity and life income liabilities
Loss on disposal of capital assets, net
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Total net nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Income (Loss) before other changes in net position

OTHER CHANGES IN NET POSITION 				
State capital appropriations
Capital gifts and grants
Permanent endowments
Transfers
Total other changes in net position
Increase (Decrease) in net position

(6,079)
81,330
—
154,406
229,657
277,521

62,120
35,327
—
70,414
167,861
268,831

NET POSITION 				
Net position, beginning of year
Net position, end of year

2,790,250
$   3,067,771

2,521,419
$    2,790,250

586,285
$  644,615

602,276
$  586,285

Financial statements for the University of California, San Diego are unaudited. Financial statements for the UC San Diego Foundation are audited.
Financial statements for the University of California, San Diego contain selected GASB 14 entities.
The financial statements of the San Diego campus are subject to limited-scope procedures as part of the annual audit of the financial statements of the
entire University of California.
1
Starting FY 2009–10 interest expense included interest paid to the University of California Office of the President (UCOP) for local long-term debt
held at UCOP. Previously, these interest payments were shown as transfer in the Retirement of indebtedness fund group. These changes were
reflected on the campus schedules beginning FY 2009–10.
2
Grant to campus was overstated by $28 thousands and Other was understated by $28 thousands.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2013, and June 30, 2012 (in thousands)

CAMPUS
			

FOUNDATION

2013

2012

2013

2012

Student tuition and fees
$   403,739
$   387,867
$       —
Grants and contracts
990,124
976,330
—
Receipts from sales and services of 				
Medical Center
1,133,460
956,485
—
Educational activities
401,123
347,001
—
Auxiliary enterprises
156,255
154,510
—
Receipts from contributions
—
—
53,352
Collections of loans to students and employees
4,830
4,115
—
Payments to employees
(1,555,757)
(1,625,901)
—
Payments to suppliers and utilities
(949,377)
(875,511)
—
Payments for benefits
(481,937)
(456,934)
—
Payments for scholarships and fellowships
(77,065)
(74,093)
—
Payments to campuses
—
—
(60,050)
Payments to beneficiaries
—
—
(2,338)
Loans issued to students and employees
(5,640)
(5,853)
—
Other receipts (payments)
43,879
58,693
(6,632)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
63,634
(153,291)
(15,668)

$       —
—

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

—
—
—
42,137
—
—
—
—
—
(54,988)
(2,364)
—
(4,790)
(20,005)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
State educational appropriations
Federal Pell Grants
Private gifts for endowment purposes
Private gifts received for other than capital purposes
Other receipts (payments)
Net cash flows from noncapital financing activities

252,469
44,015
—
58,311
10,518
365,313

225,404
49,749
—
71,202
6,748
353,103

—
—
11,925
—
2
11,927

—
—
10,005
—
—
10,005

7,009
19,321
7,171
70,834
24,084
465
(412,147)
(18,481)
84,952)
(386,696)

90,637
18,399
6,487
29,464
94,799
314
(566,724)
(15,117)
(81,058)
(422,799)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

487
—
40,187
40,674

40
—
37,235
37,275

79,314
(84,270)
6,607
1,651

84,032
(79,756)
7,332
11,608

Current 				
Intercampus
27,322
147,813
—
Interfund
(1)
(2)
—
Net adjustments
(35)
31
—
Unexpended plant
128,538
113,478
—
Retirement of indebtedness
(48,121)
(44,218)
—
Investment in plant
490
240
—
Net cash flows from transfers
108,193
217,342
—
Total net increase in cash
191,118
31,630
(2,090)
Cash beginning of year
1,369,486
1,337,856
3,094
Cash end of year
$ 1,560,604
$ 1,369,486
$    1,004

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
1,608
1,468
$    3,094

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
State capital appropriations
State financing appropriations
Federal financing appropriations
Capital gifts and grants
Proceeds from debt issuance
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets
Purchases of capital assets
Principal paid on debt and capital leases
Interest paid on debt and capital leases
Net cash provided (used) by capital and related activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments
Purchase of investments
Other receipts
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM TRANSFERS

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss)
$ (293,156)
$ (221,135)
$ (20,390)
Depreciation and amortization expense
232,636
210,886
—
Noncash gifts
—
—
(9,563)
Allowance for doubtful accounts
(12,833)
(24,174)
—
Allowance for uncollectible receivables
—
—
(132)
Loss of impairment of capital assets
782
—
—
Change in assets and liabilities 				
Receivables, net
9,111
(94,759)
15,071
Inventories
(462)
(1,121)
—
Deferred charges
(1,235)
19,045
—
Other assets
(3,508)
443
—
Accounts payable
32,063
(9,372)
545
Accrued salaries and benefits
81,546
(63,020)
—
Deferred revenue
34,030
5,478
—
Other liabilities
(15,290)
24,438
(1,199)
Net cash used by operating activities
$  63,634
$  (153,291)
$ (15,668)

$ (26,130)
—
(1,485)
—
66
—
8,877
—
—
(438)
(243)
—
—
(652)
$ (20,005)

Financial statements for the University of California, San Diego are unaudited. Financial statements for the UC San Diego Foundation are audited.
Financial statements for the University of California, San Diego contain selected GASB 14 entities.
The financial statements of the San Diego campus are subject to limited-scope procedures as part of the annual audit of the financial statements of the
entire University of California.
See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accompanying financial statements of the University of
California, San Diego campus, including the UC San Diego Medical
Center, have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, including all applicable effective
statements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board through
November 30, 1989, and generally adhering to the statements of
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), using the
accrual basis of accounting. The accounts of the San Diego campus
are subject to limited-scope procedures as part of the annual audit
of the financial statements of the entire University of California.
The financial statements of the San Diego campus have not been
individually audited. The significant accounting policies of the
university, not including the UC San Diego Foundation, are summarized below.
The UC San Diego Foundation is a nonprofit, public-benefit corporation organized for the purpose of accepting and administering
the full range of private contributions for the campus. It is qualified as a tax-exempt organization under the provision of Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and is exempt from federal
and state income taxes on related income.
Use of estimates—The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures during the reporting period. Actual amounts could
differ from those estimates.
Cash and cash equivalent—The university considers all balances
in demand-deposit accounts to be cash. The university classifies
all other highly liquid cash equivalents as short-term investments.
The University of California Office of the President (UCOP)/Treasurer’s Office maintains centralized management for substantially
all of the university’s cash. Cash in demand-deposit accounts is
minimized by sweeping available cash balances into investment
accounts on a daily basis.
Short-term investments—UC San Diego participates in a temporary investment pool that is administered by the Office of the
President. This pool invests primarily in US Treasury securities,
commercial paper, and short-term corporate notes with cost
approximating market value. These temporary investments are
considered cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of
cash flows.
Investments—Investments are recorded at fair market value.
Securities, including derivative investments, are generally valued
at the last sale price on the last business day of the fiscal year, as
quoted on a recognized exchange or an industry standard pricing
service, when available. Securities for which no sale was reported
as of the close of the last business day of the fiscal year are valued
at the quoted bid price of a dealer who regularly trades in the
security being valued. Certain securities may be valued on a basis
of a price provided by a single source.
Endowments—The campus endowment funds are invested and
administered by the Endowment and Investment Accounting unit
at UCOP and are not included in these financial statements. The
income from campus endowment funds is recorded at UCOP and
transferred to the campus annually. The university’s endowment
income distribution policies are designed to preserve the value of
the endowment and to generate a predictable stream of spendable income.

Investments held by trustees—All investments held by trustees
are insured, registered, or held by the university’s trustee or
custodial bank, as fiduciary for the bondholder or as agent for
the university.
Accounts receivable, net—Accounts receivable, net of allowance
for uncollectible accounts, include reimbursements due from state
and federal sponsors of externally funded research, patient billings, and other receivables. Other receivables include local government and private grants and contracts; educational activities; and
amounts due from students, employees, and faculty for services.
Deferred revenue—Deferred revenue primarily includes amounts
received from grant and contract sponsors that have not been
earned under the terms of the agreement and other revenue billed
in advance of the event, such as student tuition and fees, and fees
for housing and dining services.
Funds held for others—Funds held for others result from the
university or the campus foundations acting as an agent, or fiduciary, on behalf of organizations that are not significant or financially accountable to the university or campus foundations.
Federal refundable loans—Certain loans to students are administered by the university with funding primarily supported by the
federal government. The university’s statement of net position
includes both the notes receivable and the related federal refundable loan liability representing federal capital contributions owed
upon termination of the program.
Pollution remediation obligations—Upon an obligating event,
the university estimates the components of any expected pollution
remediation costs and recoveries from third parties. The costs,
estimated using the expected cash flow technique, are accrued as
a liability.
Pledges receivable, net—Unconditional pledges of private gifts
to the university or to the campus foundations in the future, net
of allowance for uncollectible amounts, are recorded as pledges
receivable and revenue in the year promised at the present value
of expected cash flows. Conditional pledges, including all pledges
of endowments and intentions to pledge, are recognized as receivables and revenues when the specified conditions are met. The
composition of pledges receivable at June 30, 2013, and 2012 is
summarized as follows (in thousands of dollars).
						
Total pledges
receivable outstanding				 $
Unamortized discount
to present value					
Allowance for
uncollectible pledges					

2013			
1,898		

$

(27)		
(126)

2012
7,401
(617 )
(146 )

Total pledges receivable, net 				

1,745			

6,638

Less: Current portion of
pledges receivable					

1,095			

3,576

Noncurrent portion of
pledges receivable				 $

650		

$

3,062

Notes and mortgages receivable—Loans to students are provided from federal student loan programs and from university
sources. Home mortgage loans, primarily for faculty, are provided
by the Short-Term Investment Pool and from other university
sources. Notes receivable at June 30, 2013, and 2012, along with
the allowance for uncollectible amounts, are as follows (in thousands of dollars).
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CURRENT			 NONCURRENT
PORTION			 PORTION

TOTAL

AT JUNE 30, 2013
Notes and Mortgages
receivable
$
Allowance for
uncollectible amounts		
Notes receivable, net

$

4,993		 $
(1,247)		
3,746		 $

38,461		

$

43,454

$

39,641

(2,566)
35,895		

(3,813 )

AT JUNE 30, 2012
Notes and Mortgages
receivable
$
Allowance for
uncollectible amounts		
Notes receivable, net

$

4,754		 $
(1,207)		
3,547		 $

37,684		

$

42,438

(2,703)		

(3,910 )

34,981		

38,529

$

Inventories—Inventories, consisting primarily of supplies and
merchandise for resale, are valued at cost, typically determined
using the weighted average method, which is not in excess of net
realizable value.
Fixed assets—Land, infrastructure, buildings and improvements,
equipment, libraries, and special collections are recorded at cost
at the date of acquisition or fair value at the date of donation in
the case of gifts. Capital leases are recorded at the present value
of future minimal lease payments. Significant additions, replacements, major repairs, and renovations are generally capitalized if
the cost exceeds $35,000 and if they have a useful life of more than
one year. Minor renovations are charged to operations. Equipment
with a cost in excess of $4,999 and a useful life of more than one
year is capitalized.
Interest on borrowings to finance facilities is capitalized during
construction, net of any investment income earned during the
temporary investment of project related borrowings.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
estimated economic life of the asset.
Capital assets acquired through federal grants and contracts
where the federal government retains a reversionary interest are
capitalized and depreciated. Inexhaustible capital assets such as
land or special collections that are protected, preserved, and held
for public exhibition, education, or research, including art, museum, scientific, and rare book collections, are not depreciated.
Debt—Long-term financing includes bonds, certificates of participation, loans and other borrowings, and capital lease obligations.
Some loans, bonds, and certificates of participation provide financing for projects on more than one campus and are accounted for
centrally at UCOP. For financial statement presentation, selected
statements have been adjusted to include long-term debt recorded
at UCOP. In the statement of net position, the totals for long-term
debt, including the current portion of long-term debt, and the total
for invested in capital assets, net of related debt totals, have been
adjusted to reflect the UCOP-held debt. Similarly, the transfers
total in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position for 2012 has been adjusted by $45.69 million, the change
in UCOP-held debt from $1.45 billion in 2012 to $1.73 billion in
2013. The statement of cash flows has not been adjusted.
Student tuition and fees—Substantially all of the student tuition
and fees provide for current operations of the university. A small
portion of the student fees, reported as capital gifts and grants, is
required for debt service associated with the student union and
student recreational centers. Certain waivers of student tuition
and fees considered to be scholarship allowances are recorded as
an offset to revenue.
State appropriations—The State of California provides appropriations to the university on an annual basis. State educational
appropriations are recognized as nonoperating revenue; however,
the related expenses are incurred to support either educational
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operations or other specific operating purposes. State financing
appropriations provide for principal and interest payments
associated with lease-purchase agreements with the State Public
Works Board and are also reported as nonoperating revenue.
State appropriations for capital projects are recorded as revenue
under other changes in net position when the related expenditures
are incurred. Special state appropriations for AIDS, tobacco, and
breast cancer research are reported as grant operating revenue.
Commitments and contingencies—Substantial amounts are
received and expended by the university, including its Medical
Center, under federal and state programs, and are subject to
audit by cognizant governmental agencies. This funding relates to
research, student aid, Medical Center operations, and other programs. University management believes that any liabilities arising
from such audits will not have a material effect on the university’s
financial position.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
In June 2012, GASB issued Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting
for Pension Plans, effective for the University’s fiscal year beginning July 1, 2013. This Statement revises existing standards for
financial reporting for pension plans by changing the approach
to measuring the net pension liability. The net pension liability
is measured as the total pension liability, less the amount of the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The total pension liability
is determined based upon discounting projected benefit payments based on the benefit terms and legal agreements existing
at the pension plan’s fiscal year end. Projected benefit payments
are required to be discounted using a single rate that reflects the
expected rate of return on investments, to the extent that plan
assets are available to pay benefits, and a tax-exempt, high-quality
municipal bond rate when plan assets are not available. Statement
No. 67 has no effect on the UC San Diego financial statements, as
all UC pension data is reported by the University of California
Retirement Plan (UCRP).
In June 2012, GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions, effective for the University’s
fiscal year beginning July 1, 2014. This statement revises existing
standards for measuring and reporting pension liabilities for
pension plans provided by the university to its employees. This
statement requires recognition of a liability equal to the net pension liability, which is measured as the total pension liability, less
the amount of the pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The total
pension liability is determined based upon discounting projected
benefit payments based on the benefit terms and legal agreements
existing at the pension plan’s fiscal year end.
Projected benefit payments are required to be discounted using a
single rate that reflects the expected rate of return on investments,
to the extent that plan assets are available to pay benefits, and a
tax-exempt, high-quality municipal bond rate when plan assets
are not available. This statement requires that most changes in the
net pension liability be included in pension expense in the period
of the change. As of June 30, 2013, UCOP reported an obligation to
UCRP of $3.4 billion, representing unfunded contributions to UCRP
based upon UCOP’s funding policy. Under GASB No. 68, the university’s obligation to UCRP is expected to increase. However, the
amount of the increase has not been determined at this time. Statement No. 68 has no effect on the UC San Diego financial statements.

Retiree Health Benefit Costs and Obligations
The University of California (university) administers single-employer health and welfare plans to provide health and welfare
benefits, primarily medical, dental, and vision, to eligible retirees
and their eligible family members (retirees) of the University of
California and its affiliates. The Board of Regents has the authority to establish and amend the plans. Additional information can
be obtained from the 2012–13 annual report of the University
of California Retiree Health Benefit Trust. Membership in the

University of California Retirement Plan (UCRP) is required to
become eligible for retiree health benefits.
Contribution policy—The contribution requirements of the university and eligible retirees are established and may be amended
by the university. The contribution requirements are based upon
projected pay-as-you-go financing. University and retiree contributions toward premiums made under purchased plan arrangements
are determined by applying the health plan contract rates across
the number of participants in the respective plans. Premium rates
for the self-insured plan contributions are set by the university
based upon a trend analysis of the historic cost, utilization, demographics, and administrative expenses to provide for the claims
incurred and the actuarially determined level of incurred but
not reported liability. Contributions toward medical and dental
benefits are shared between the university and the retiree. Contributions toward wellness benefits are made by the university. The
university does not contribute toward the cost of other benefits
available to retirees.
Active employees do not make any contributions toward the retiree
health benefit plans. Retirees pay the excess, if any, of the premium over the applicable portion of the university’s contribution. In
addition to the explicit university contribution provided to retirees, there is an “implicit subsidy.” The gross premiums for members that are not currently eligible for Medicare benefits are the
same for active employees and retirees, based on a blend of their
health costs. This effect is called the implicit subsidy. The implicit
subsidy associated with retiree health costs paid during the past
year is also considered to be a contribution from the university.
Retiree health benefit expense and obligation for retiree
health benefits—The university’s retiree health benefit expense
is independently calculated for the campuses and medical centers
based upon the actuarially determined annual required contribution. The annual required contribution represents the level of
funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the
normal cost each year and amortize unfunded actuarial liabilities
over a period of up to thirty years.

The University of California Retirement
System (UCRS)
Most University of California employees participate in the University of California Retirement System (UCRS). UCRS consists of
the University of California Retirement Plan, a single employer,
defined benefit plan funded with university and employee contributions; the University of California Retirement Savings Program that includes four defined contribution plans with options
to participate in internally and externally managed investment
portfolios generally funded with employee nonelective and elective
contributions. The regents have the authority to establish and
amend the benefit plans.
University of California Retirement Plan (UCRP)—The University of California Retirement Plan provides lifetime retirement income, disability protection, death benefits, and preretirement survivor benefits to eligible employees of the University of California.
Membership in the retirement plan is required for all employees
appointed to work at least 50 percent time for an indefinite period
or for a definite period of a year or more. An employee may also become eligible by completing one thousand hours of service within
a twelve-month period. Generally, five years of service are required
for entitlement to plan benefits. The amount of the pension benefit
is determined by salary rate, age, and years of service credit with
certain cost-of-living adjustments. The maximum monthly benefit
is 100 percent of the employee’s highest average compensation
over a consecutive thirty-six-month period, subject to certain limits imposed under the Internal Revenue Code.
Contribution policy—The regents’ contribution funding policy is
based on a percentage of payroll using the entry age normal actuarial cost method. In determining the funding policy contribution,

all July 1, 2010, amortization bases were combined in a single
amortization base and amortized over a thirty-year period as a
level dollar amount.
The total funding policy contribution rates as of July 1, 2012, are
based on all of the plan data, the actuarial assumptions, and the
plan provisions adopted at the time of preparation of the actuarial
valuation. University contributions were $117.90 million during
the year ended June 30, 2013.
UCRP benefits and obligation to UCRP—The university’s annual
UCRP benefit expense is independently calculated for the campuses
and medical centers based upon the actuarially determined annual
required contributions. The annual required contribution represents
the level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to
cover the normal cost each year and amortize unfunded actuarial
liabilities or surplus over a period of up to thirty years.
Funded status—Actuarial valuations represent a long-term perspective and involve estimates of the value of reported amounts
and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events
far into the future. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to
periodic revisions as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. All UCRP
assets are available to pay any member’s benefit.
University of California Retirement Savings Program—The
University of California Retirement Savings Program includes four
defined contribution plans providing retirement savings incentives
that are generally available to all university employees. Participants’
interests in the plans are fully and immediately vested and are distributable at retirement, termination of employment, or death.
Defined Contribution Plans—The Defined Contribution Plan (DC
Plan) accepts both after-tax and pretax employee contributions
that are fully vested. Pretax contributions are mandatory for all
employees who are members of UCRP. For UCRP members, monthly employee contributions range from approximately 2 percent to
4 percent of covered wages depending upon whether wages are
below or above the Social Security wage base. For Safe Harbor
participants, monthly employee contributions are 7.5 percent of
covered wages.
Employer contributions are fully vested and there is no provision
for employee contributions. There were no employer contributions
to the SDC Plan for the years ended June 30, 2013.
Tax Deferred 403(b) Plan—The university’s Tax-Deferred 403(b)
Plan accepts pretax employee contributions. The university may also
make contributions on behalf of certain members of management.
457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan—The university’s 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan accepts pretax employee contributions.
The university may also make contributions on behalf of certain
members of management. There were no employer contributions
to the 457(b) Plan for the years ended June 30, 2013, and 2012.
Participants in the DC Plan, the SDC Plan, the 403(b) Plan, and the
457(b) Plan may direct their elective and nonelective contributions
to investment funds managed by the chief investment officer. They
may also invest account balances in certain mutual funds. The
participants’ interests in mutual funds are shown separately in
the statement of plans’ fiduciary net position.
Compensated absences—The university accrues annual leave for
employees at rates based upon length of service and job classification and compensatory time based upon job classification and
hours worked.
Tax exemption—The Board of Regents of the University of California is recognized as a tax-exempt organization under Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). Because the university
is a state institution, related income received by the university is
also exempt from federal tax under IRC Section 115(a). In addition,
the university is exempt from state income taxes imposed under
the California Revenue and Taxation Code.
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Fiscal Year 2012–13

Student Statistics

Student Fees and Tuition

AS OF FALL 2012

AS OF FALL 2012

Revenues

$3,558,712,000

Expenditures

$3,510,848,000

Grants and Contracts (Received)
Health Sciences

$ 547,604,000

General Campus

$

Scripps Institution
of Oceanography

283,116,000

$ 154,203,000

Private Support 2012–13
Total Amount Raised

$ 150,366,096

UC San Diego Foundation,
Total Net Position
MARKET VALUE AS OF 6/30/13

$644,615,209

Total Number of Students

29,052

Mandatory Resident Fees

Total Undergraduate Students

22,676

Undergraduate

$14,373

Men (50.6%)

11,474

Graduate

$14,515

Women (49.4%)

11,202

Average High School GPA
2012 Freshmen

4.00

Average SAT Score
2012 Freshmen

1278

Undergraduate Financial
Aid and Scholarships
RECEIVED BY STUDENTS FROM ALL SOURCES (2012–13)

Grants $247,900,000
Loans $87,900,000

Employees

Scholarships $10,600,000

AS OF JUNE 2013

Total, Full- and Part-time

28,672

Academic

8,922

Staff

Work-Study $3,500,000

19,750

Nonresident Tuition
Undergraduate

$37,251

Graduate

$29,617

Professional Mandatory Resident Fees
School of International
Relations and Pacific Studies

$

22,111

Rady School of Management

$

41,782

School of Medicine

$

34,612

Skaggs School of Pharmacy
and Pharmaceutical Sciences

$

34,158

Professional Nonresident Tuition
School of International
Relations and Pacific Studies

$ 34,357

Rady School of Management

$ 46,672

School of Medicine

$ 46,858

Skaggs School of Pharmacy
and Pharmaceutical Sciences

$ 46,399

Average Monthly Payroll
SALARIES ONLY

$128,466,663

Undergraduate Fields of Study

Advanced Degree Enrollment

AS OF FALL 2012

AS OF FALL 2012

35.7% Social Sciences (8,105)
2.6% Arts (594)

5% Skaggs School
of Pharmacy and
Pharmaceutical
Sciences (268)

2.8% Humanities (635)
7.5% Special/
Undeclared (1,708)
11.2% Science/
Math (2,529)

16.7% Biological
Sciences (3,790)
23.4% Engineering (5,315)

23% School of
Medicine (1,520)

TOTAL
UNDERGRADUATE
STUDENTS
22,676
72% Graduate
Students on General
Campus (4,588)

TOTAL
ADVANCED
DEGREE
ENROLLMENT
6,376
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